BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF OHIO

In the Matter of the Application of Duke Energy Ohio, Inc., for an Increase in Electric Distribution Rates.))	Case No. 17-32-EL-AIR
In the Matter of the Application of Duke Energy Ohio, Inc., for Tariff Approval.)	Case No. 17-33-EL-ATA
In the Matter of the Application of Duke Energy Ohio, Inc., for Approval to Change Accounting Methods.)	Case No. 17-34-EL-AAM
In the Matter of the Application of Duke Energy Ohio, Inc., for Approval to Modify Rider PSR.))	Case No. 17-872-EL-RDR
In the Matter of the Application of Duke Energy Ohio, Inc., for Approval to Amend Rider PSR.))	Case No. 17-873-EL-ATA
In the Matter of the Application of Duke Energy Ohio, Inc., for Approval to Change Accounting Methods.)	Case No. 17-874-EL-AAM
In the Matter of the Application of Duke Energy Ohio, Inc., for Authority to Establish a Standard Service Offer Pursuant to Section 4928.143, Revised Code, in the Form of an Electric Security Plan, Accounting Modifications and Tariffs for Generation Service.)))))	Case No. 17-1263-EL-SSO
In the Matter of the Application of Duke Energy Ohio, Inc., for Authority to Amend its Certified Supplier Tariff, P.U.C.O. No. 20.))	Case No. 17-1264-EL-ATA
In the Matter of the Application of Duke Energy Ohio, Inc., for Authority to Defer Vegetation Management Costs.)))	Case No. 17-1265-EL-AAM

In the Matter of the Application of Duke)
Energy Ohio, Inc., to Establish) Case No. 16-1602-EL-ESS
Minimum Reliability Performance)
Standards Pursuant to Chapter 4901:1-)
10, Ohio Administrative Code.)

INTITIAL POST-HEARING BRIEF

SUBMITTED ON BEHALF OF THE STAFF OF THE PUBLIC UTLITIES COMMISSION OF OHIO

Michael DeWine Ohio Attorney General

William L. Wright Section Chief

Steven L. Beeler
Robert A. Eubanks
Thomas G. Lindgren
Assistant Attorneys General
Public Utilities Section
30 East Broad Street, 16th Floor
Columbus, OH 43215-3414
614.466.4397 (telephone)
614.644.8764 (fax)
william.wright@ohioattorneygeneral.gov
steven.beeler@ohioattorneygeneral.gov
robert.eubanks@ohioattorneygeneral.gov
thomas.lindgren@ohioattorneygeneral.gov

September 11, 2018

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

INTRODU	JCTION	V	2
PROCEDU	JRAL S	SCHEDULE	2
DISCUSS	ION		3
I.	The	Stipulation meets the Three-Part Test for reasonableness	3
	A.	Serious Bargaining	8
	В.	Public Interest	
	C.	The Stipulation does not violate any important regulatory	
		principle or practice, rather it promoted public policy	13
II.	The	Electric Security Plan Case	20
	A.	Rider DCI	20
	B.	Rider ESRR	20
	C.	Rider PF	21
	D.	Eliminating Rider DR-IM	24
	E.	Eliminating Rider RMR	25
	F.	Rider UE-GEN and PAR Program	25
	G.	Rider DSR	27
	H.	Net Metering	28
	I.	Rider BDP	28
	J.	Rider BTR	29
	K.	Corporate Separation Plan Modifications	29
	L.	SSO Procurement and Pricing	30
	M.	Significantly Excessive Earnings Test	31
	N.	Certified Supplier Tariff	31
	O.	Large Customer Interruptible Load Program	32
	P.	Hospital Working Group	33
	Q.	Low Income Assistance	33
	R.	City of Cincinnati	34
	S.	Term of the ESP	34
	Т	The MRO v. FSP Test	35

III.	The	Rate Case45
	A.	Base Rate Reduction
	B.	Objections related to Rider DCI and Rider RMR46
	C.	Objections related to Green Button Direct, time Differentiated Rates, the Customer Information System, and the LED Outdoor Electric Service Tariff
	D.	Objections related to test year operating expenses, Rider DR-M,
		and rate base calculation
	E.	Objections related to Duke's PAR program, the withdrawal of the Company's proposed net metering tariff; and lack of an SSO cost allocation
	F.	Objections related to Staff's recommendations regarding demand meters that are capable of measuring an individual customer's monthly demand
	G.	Objections related to Staff not reviewing the cost related to the Supplier Tariff, Sheet No. 20
	H.	Objections related to Staff's acceptance of the COSS for
		classifying poles and conductor
	I.	Objections related to Staff's test-year conclusions regarding the customer education funds
	J.	Objections related to Staff's rate of return calculation
	K.	Objections related to Staff's adjustment to issuance cost
	L.	Objections related to Staff's ROE range and ROR68
	M.	Objection related to whether the Staff properly recognized
		growth being experienced in the residential service rate class 69
	N.	Objections related to smart grid issues
IV.	The	Price Stability Rider (Rider PSR) Case73
V.	The	Reliability Standards Case74
VI.	Bill	Impacts77
VII.	The	Tax Cut and Jobs Act (TCJA)78
CONCLUS	SION	79

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE	8
------------------------	---

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF OHIO

In the Matter of the Application of Duke Energy Ohio, Inc., for an Increase in Electric Distribution Rates.)	Case No. 17-32-EL-AIR
In the Matter of the Application of Duke Energy Ohio, Inc., for Tariff Approval.)	Case No. 17-33-EL-ATA
In the Matter of the Application of Duke Energy Ohio, Inc., for Approval to Change Accounting Methods.)	Case No. 17-34-EL-AAM
In the Matter of the Application of Duke Energy Ohio, Inc., for Approval to Modify Rider PSR.)	Case No. 17-872-EL-RDR
In the Matter of the Application of Duke Energy Ohio, Inc., for Approval to Amend Rider PSR.))	Case No. 17-873-EL-ATA
In the Matter of the Application of Duke Energy Ohio, Inc., for Approval to Change Accounting Methods.))	Case No. 17-874-EL-AAM
In the Matter of the Application of Duke Energy Ohio, Inc., for Authority to Establish a Standard Service Offer Pursuant to Section 4928.143, Revised Code, in the Form of an Electric Security Plan, Accounting Modifications and Tariffs for Generation Service.)))))	Case No. 17-1263-EL-SSO
In the Matter of the Application of Duke Energy Ohio, Inc., for Authority to Amend its Certified Supplier Tariff, P.U.C.O. No. 20.))	Case No. 17-1264-EL-ATA
In the Matter of the Application of Duke Energy Ohio, Inc., for Authority to Defer Vegetation Management Costs.)))	Case No. 17-1265-EL-AAM

In the Matter of the Application of Duke)
Energy Ohio, Inc., to Establish) Case No. 16-1602-EL-ESS
Minimum Reliability Performance)
Standards Pursuant to Chapter 4901:1-)
10, Ohio Administrative Code.)

INTITIAL POST-HEARING BRIEF

SUBMITTED ON BEHALF OF THE STAFF OF THE PUBLIC UTLITIES COMMISSION OF OHIO

INTRODUCTION

The Public Utilities Commission of Ohio (Commission) is presented with a Stipulation that resolves all the issues in ten complex cases that were consolidated to form this proceeding. The Stipulation is reasonable and meets the Commission's three-part test for approval of stipulations. It should be adopted by this Commission.

PROCEDURAL SCHEDULE

On April 13, 2018, Duke Energy Ohio (the Company or Duke) and certain parties filed a stipulation and recommendation (Stipulation) that purports to resolve issues in four pending cases. The cases included in the Stipulation are:

- In the Matter of the Application of Duke Energy Ohio, Inc., for an Increase in Electric Distribution Rates, Case 17-32-EL-AIR, et al. (Rate Case);
- In the Matter of the Application of Duke Energy Ohio, Inc., for Approval to Modify Rider PSR, Case No. 17-872-EL-RDR, et al. (PSR Case);

- In the Matter of the Application of Duke Energy Ohio, Inc., for Authority to Establish a Standard Service Offer, Case No. 17-1263-EL-SSO, et al. (ESP Case); and
- In the Matter of the Application of Duke Energy Ohio, Inc., to Establish Minimum Reliability Performance Standards, Case No. 16-1602-EL-ESS (Reliability Standards Case).

The parties that signed the Stipulation are: Duke, the Staff of the Public Utilities

Commission of Ohio (Staff), the City of Cincinnati, Ohio Partners for Affordable Energy

(OPAE), Ohio Energy Group (OEG), Ohio Hospital Association (OHA), and People

Working Cooperatively, Inc. (PWC). Non-opposing signatories are the Kroger Company

(Kroger), Industrial Energy Users-Ohio (IEU), Ohio Manufacturers' Association Energy

Group (OMA), and Wal-Mart Stores East LP and Sam's East, Inc. (Wal-Mart).

Concurrently with the Stipulation, Duke filed a motion to consolidate the cases included in the Stipulation. On May 9, 2018, Duke's motion to consolidate the Rate Case, the ESP Case, the PSR Case, and the Standards Case was granted. The hearing on these consolidated began July 9, 2018 and concluded August 6, 2018.

DISCUSSION

I. The Stipulation meets the Three-Part Test for reasonableness.

Rule 4901-1-30, O.A.C, authorizes parties to Commission proceedings to enter into stipulations. Although not binding upon the Commission, the terms of such

agreements are to be accorded substantial weight.¹ The ultimate issue for the Commission's consideration is whether the agreement, which embodies considerable time and effort by the signatory parties, is reasonable and should be adopted. The standard of review for considering the reasonableness of a stipulation has been discussed in a number of prior Commission proceedings.² In considering the reasonableness of a stipulation, the Commission has used the following criteria:

- (1) Is the settlement a product of serious bargaining among capable, knowledgeable parties?
- (2) Does the settlement, as a package, benefit ratepayers and the public interest?
- (3) Does the settlement package violate any important regulatory principle or practice?

The Ohio Supreme Court has endorsed the Commission's analysis using these criteria to resolve cases.³ When the Commission reviews a contested stipulation, as is the case here, the Court has also been clear that the requirement of evidentiary support remains operative. While the Commission "may place substantial weight on the terms of

¹ Consumers' Counsel v. Pub. Util. Comm. (1992), 64 Ohio St, 3d 123, at 125, citing Akron v. Pub. Util. Comm. (1978), 55 Ohio St, 2d 155.

See, e.g., Cincinnati Gas & Electric Co., Case No. 91-410-EL-AIR (April 14, 1994); Ohio Edison Co., Case No. 92-1463-GA-AIR, et al. (August 26, 1993); Ohio Edison Co., Case No. 89-1001-EL-AIR (August 19, 1993); The Cleveland Electric Illumination Co., Case No. 88-170-EL-AIR (January 31, 1989); and Restatement of Accounts and Records (Zimmer Plant); Case No, 84-1187-EL-UNC (November 26, 1985).

Indus. Energy Consumers of Ohio Power Co. v. Pub. Util. Comm. (1994), 68 Ohio St. 3d 559, citing, Consumers' Counsel, supra, at 126.

a stipulation," it "must determine, from the evidence, what is just and reasonable." The agreement of some parties is no substitute for the procedural protections reinforced by the evidentiary support requirement.

Below is a summary of some of the major components of the Stipulation, but is not meant to be a comprehensive list:

- ESP Term is June 1, 2018 May 31, 2025,
- SSO Procurement continues,
- PIPP Auction cost will be collected in the nonbypassable Rider UE-ED (Uncollectible Expense Rider – Electric Distribution),
- Overall base rate reduction of \$19.17 million,
- Return on Equity of 9.84%,
- Equity ratio of 50.75%,
- Staff's proposed depreciation rate schedule,
- Continuation of the Distribution Capital Investment Rider (Rider DCI), which includes:
 - o Caps on the amount to be recovered by the Company,
 - o Potential battery storage recovery, and
 - o A sunset provision,

⁴ Consumers' Counsel v. Pub. Util. Comm. (1992), 64 Ohio St.3d 123, 126, 592 N.E.2d 1370.

In re Application of Columbus S. Power Co. (2011), 129 Ohio St.3d 46.

- Creation of the PowerForward Rider (Rider PF), which allows for:
 - Recovery of costs associated with Commission directives resulting from the PowerForward initiative,
 - Recovery of costs associated with the communications infrastructure needed to support advanced metering infrastructure (AMI) and data access enhancements, and
 - Recovery of costs associated with an infrastructure modernization plan to be filed in a future case,
- Reduction of earnings-related incentives to both Rider PF and Rider DCI,
- Allowance for recovery of distribution vegetation management expenses,
 - Creation of Electric Service Reliability Rider (Rider ESRR),
 - o Rate base allowance is \$10,720,877,⁶
 - Overall recovery cap of \$20,720,877 for both Rider ESRR and base rates, and
 - o The Company will move to a five-year trim cycle,
- Modification to the distribution storm rider (Rider DSR) revenue requirement, by reducing the base distribution revenue requirement to an annual baseline of \$4.3 million,
- Elimination of the distribution reliability infrastructure modernization rider (Rider DR-IM),
- Modification of the base transmission rider (Rider BTR),

6

Joint Ex. 1 (Stipulation and Recommendation), Attachment D, Schedule A-1.

- The Company agrees to eliminate the proposed ability to offer additional products and/or services other than retail electric service,
- Allows for net metering credits to conform with the Commission's Order in Case No. 12-2050-EL-ORD,
- Allows for auditing elements of the Company's purchase of accounts receivables (PAR),
- Gradual reduction to the backup delivery point tariff (BDP),
- Changes to the Company's certified supplier tariff,
- Agreement that the Company has fulfilled its Operational Support Plan,
- Population of Rider PSR to recover or credit the net amount of the Company's entitlement with Ohio Valley Electric Corporation (OVEC),
- Withdrawal of the Company's proposed Regulatory Mandates Rider (Rider RMR) and Incentive Ratemaking Mechanism Rider (Rider IRM),
- Maintains the current Significantly Excessive Earnings Test (SEET) parameters,
- Creates a working group to engage the Ohio Hospital Association (OHA) on issues of reliability, maintenance, and load growth that may impact OHA members,
- \$522,000 in annual funding for low-income programs as administered by People Working Cooperatively, Inc. (PWC), and
- \$250,000 in annual funding to the city of Cincinnati for low-income programs.

The signatory parties, and the Commission staff, respectfully submit that the stipulation here satisfies the reasonableness criteria, and that the evidence of record supports and justifies a finding that its terms are just and reasonable.

A. Serious Bargaining

The Stipulation is the product of serious negotiations among knowledgeable parties. The list of parties that signed the stipulation represents a variety of diverse interests, which include low-income customer advocates – Ohio Partners for Affordable Energy (OPAE), People Working Cooperatively (PWC), and the city of Cincinnati; industrial and commercial advocates – the Ohio Energy Group (OEG); and commercial customers – the Ohio Hospital Association (OHA).⁷ The signatories are a listing of the major users of power in the Duke service territory and the Staff. The signatory parties have an extensive history of participation and experience in matters before the Commission. The non-opposing parties are The Kroger Co.; Industrial Energy Users-Ohio (IEU-Ohio); Ohio Manufactures' Association Energy Group (OMAEG); and Wal-Mart Stores East, LP and Sam's East, Inc (Wal-Mart).⁸

The signatory parties and non-opposing parties are knowledgeable on regulatory matters before the Commission, regularly participate in proceedings before the Commission, employ experts in the industry, and are represented by experienced and

Staff Ex. 17 (Donlon Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 8.

⁸ *Id*.

competent counsel.⁹ All intervenors were provided an opportunity to participate in discussions and the settlement process.¹⁰ The terms of the Stipulation represent serious bargaining among diverse parties to find a mutually acceptable agreement for all signatory and non-opposing parties.¹¹ Concessions were made by parties to mitigate the litigation risk inherent in proceeding to a hearing.¹²

The hearing included the testimony of 19 Company witnesses, 12 Staff witnesses, and 16 witnesses representing other parties to the case. The Attorney Examiner granted numerous Staff motions to extend the hearings in this case so that the Parties could work on a settlement agreement. The Parties then met and communicated over some months leading to the Signatory Parties agreeing to the proposed Stipulation filed on April 13, 2018. The meeting process that led to the Stipulation was open and available to all parties. Meetings were noticed, well attended and many of non-signatory parties participated in the discussions. The parties involved in these negotiations were capable and knowledgeable about the issues raised in this case. Several parties opposing the Stipulation argue that the Signatory Parties do not represent a variety of diverse interests. These claims are baseless. As mentioned above, both the Staff and a variety of diverse interests, which include low-income customer advocates, industrial and commercial

⁹ *Id.* at 9.

¹⁰ *Id*.

¹¹ *Id*.

¹² *Id*.

advocates, and commercial customers were signatory parties. Although the conclusion that the Stipulation results from serious bargaining among knowledgeable parties is obvious, that does not prevent opposing parties from challenging it. In sum, the Stipulation is the product of serious negotiations among knowledgeable parties.

B. Public Interest

The Stipulation benefits customers and is the public interest.¹³ The Stipulation resolves a multitude of issues that span ten open cases before the Commission,¹⁴ including Duke's pending SSO application, the Company's pending base electric distribution rate case application, the Company's application to populate its existing Price Stabilization Rider (Rider PSR), and the Commission's review of the Company's electric service standards for 2016.

The Stipulation provides long-term certainty and predictability for all parties, including customers. ¹⁵ The Stipulation supports and advances the Commission's PowerForward initiative, which is a review of the latest in technological and regulatory innovation that could serve to enhance the customer electricity experience, while providing the proper guardrails and caps. ¹⁶ The reliability and safety of the grid is properly accounted for to ensure that the Company continues to effectively operate and

¹⁴ *Id*.

¹⁵ *Id*.

16 *Id.* at 9-10.

10

¹³ *Id*.

maintain its distribution system.¹⁷ The Stipulation also provides for the continued support of low-income weatherization initiatives.¹⁸ Finally, the Stipulation proposes to allow the Company to populate Rider PSR with the costs the Company has incurred related to the Company's ownership percentages in OVEC units, starting in January 2018 and continuing through the end of the ESP.¹⁹

Rider PSR is also in the public interest. Rider PSR recovers or credits back the net profit or loss of the Company's ownership percentage in the OVEC units.²⁰ The Commission previously approved the rider in Case No. 14-841-EL-SSO, *et al.*²¹ Through the Stipulation, the Company is able to populate the rider with the net profit or net loss the Company incurred starting in January 2018 and through the end of the term of the ESP.²² For each Ohio Electric Distribution Utility (EDU) which has direct ownership shares of OVEC units, the Commission has granted a nonbypassable rider to allow the credits or costs to be flowed back to that utility's customers.²³ While each EDU has its

¹⁷ *Id.* at 10.

¹⁸ *Id*.

¹⁹ *Id*.

²⁰ *Id*.

²¹ *Id*.

²² *Id*.

Id. at 10-11 citing In the Matter of the Application of Ohio Power Company for Authority to Establish a Standard Service Offer Pursuant to R.C. 4928.143, in the Form of an Electric Security Plan, Case No 16-1852-EL-SSO, et al., Opinion and Order at 22-23 (April 25, 2018); In the Matter of the Application of The Dayton Power and Light

own unique issues, circumstances and situations that should be evaluated on their own merits, OVEC is a unique issue and circumstance that three of the Ohio EDUs share in common.²⁴ To date, the Commission has approved the Ohio Power Company and the Dayton Power and Light Company to recover or credit their individual ownership share of the OVEC plants through a rider.²⁵ The Commission has deemed that those riders operate as a hedge for the costs and associated revenues of the EDU's ownership share of OVEC and are in the public interest.²⁶ Staff does not believe that the facts in this case differ enough to merit a change in Commission precedent.

Many of the benefits of Duke's pending SSO application, the Company's pending base electric distribution rate case application, the Company's application to populate its existing Rider PSR, and the Commission's review of the Company's electric service standards for 2016 will be explained in more detail below. Overall, the Stipulation benefits customers and is in the public interest.

Company to Establish a Standard Service Offer in the Form of an Electric Security Plan, Case No. 16-395-EL-SSO, et al., Opinion and Order at 34-35 (Oct. 20, 2017).

Staff Ex. 17 (Donlon Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 11.

²⁵ *Id*.

²⁶ *Id*.

C. The Stipulation does not violate any important regulatory principle or practice, rather it promoted public policy.

The Stipulation complies with all relevant and important regulatory principles and practices.²⁷ R.C. 4928.02 provides guidelines for the Commission to weigh in evaluating an electric distribution utility's SSO. The Stipulation advances this state policy in a number of ways.

The Stipulation ensures the availability to consumers of adequate, reliable, safe, efficient, nondiscriminatory, and reasonably priced retail electric service.²⁸ The Stipulation will ensure that Duke has the appropriate programs and infrastructure to provide reliable and sufficient supply of retail electric service for its customers.²⁹ Retail customers will also continue to have the option of purchasing generation service from the company via the competitively sourced SSO or from CRES providers.³⁰ In either case, an adequate, safe, reliable, efficient, and reasonably prices electric service is made available to all retail load.³¹

The Stipulation ensures the availability of unbundled and comparable retail electric service that provides consumers with the supplier, price, terms, conditions, and

²⁷ *Id.* at 9.

²⁸ R.C. 4928.02(A).

Duke Ex. 5 (Spiller Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 14.

³⁰ *Id*.

³¹ *Id*.

quality options they elect to meet their respective needs.³² The Stipulation enables market forces to set the price for generation service for all customers, whether they take SSO service from the Company or take service from a CRES provider.³³ The generation service provided to customer taking SSO service represents an unbundled generation service that customers can compare with generation services offered by CRES providers.³⁴ The Company's tariffs for SSO service provide all of the required information regarding pricing, terms, conditions, and quality to meet customers' needs.³⁵

The Stipulation ensures diversity of electricity supplies and suppliers, by giving consumers effective choices over the selection of those supplies and suppliers and by encouraging the development of distributed and small generation facilities.³⁶ Duke has 81 registered and active CRES providers in its service territory.³⁷ The Stipulation continues to facilitate the competitive market that currently exists in several ways.³⁸ Duke will maintain the Purchase of Accounts Receivables program with the corresponding uncollectable generation expense rider (Rider UE-GEN).³⁹ Also, the

³² R.C. 4928.02(B).

Duke Ex. 5 (Spiller Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 14.

³⁴ *Id.* at 14-15.

³⁵ *Id.* at 15.

³⁶ R.C. 4928.02(C).

Duke Ex. 5 (Spiller Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 15.

³⁸ *Id*.

³⁹ *Id*.

Company will continue to impose minimal limits of switching, which should ensure that there will continue to be numerous and diverse suppliers willing to make CRES offers in Duke's territory.⁴⁰

The Stipulation encourages innovation and market access for cost-effective supply- and demand-side retail electric service including, but not limited to, demand-side management, time-differentiated pricing, waste energy recovery systems, smart grid programs, and implementation of advanced metering infrastructure. The Stipulation does not affect Duke's commitment to meet energy efficiency and peak demand reduction standard. Duke will continue to explore all cost-effective energy efficiency offerings to meet the statutory thresholds. The Stipulation allows for the continuation of Rider DDR that decouples volumetric sales from revenue, which also advances state policy goals in that it eliminates Duke's incentive to increase volumetric consumption and, thus, supports the advancement of energy efficiency measures. The billing determinants will be adjusted to reflect the agreed upon rate reduction for rates as set forth in Attachment E of the Stipulation.

⁴⁰ *Id*.

⁴¹ R.C. 4928.02(D).

Duke Ex. 5 (Spiller Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 16.

⁴³ *Id*.

⁴⁴ *Id*.

⁴⁵ *Id.* at 16-17.

The Stipulation encourages cost-effective and efficient access to information regarding the operation of the transmission and distribution systems of electric utilities in order to promote both effective customer choice of retail electric service and the development of performance standards and targets for service quality for all consumers, including annual achievement reports written in plain language. Rider PF will provide the vehicle to enable system enhancements to enable the Company to provide such information to customers. Rider PF is a new rider to recover the costs of programs, modifications and service s related to the continued evolution of the distribution grid and an enhanced customer experience.

The Stipulation ensures that an electric utility's transmission and distribution systems are available to a customer-generator or owner of distributed generation, so that the customer-generator or owner can market and deliver the electricity it produces.⁴⁹

Duke's net metering and interconnection tariffs will continue and customer generators will still have access to Duke's system.⁵⁰ The Stipulation also recognizes the continuing emergence of competitive electricity markets through the development and

⁴⁶ R.C. 4928.02(E).

Duke Ex. 5 (Spiller Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 17.

⁴⁸ *Id*.

⁴⁹ R.C. 4928.02(F).

Duke Ex. 5 (Spiller Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 18.

implementation of flexible regulatory treatment.⁵¹ The Stipulation will ensure continuation of a vigorous competitive environment in southwestern Ohio by maintaining the current auction-based structure, thereby perpetuating to assure a level playing field between those wholesale suppliers responsible for service and those retail suppliers providing CRES offers.⁵²

The Stipulation ensures effective competition in the provision of retail electric service by avoiding anticompetitive subsidies flowing from a noncompetitive retail electric service to a competitive retail electric service or to a product or service other than retail electric service, and vice versa, including by prohibiting the recovery of any generation-related costs through distribution or transmission rates.⁵³ The Stipulation resolves the ESP by continuing competitive procurements in which Duke will provide an SSO of competitive retail service.⁵⁴ Duke will rely on third parties to provide sufficient supply for SSO and percentage of income payment plan (PIPP) customers.⁵⁵ There will be no subsidies flowing from non-competitive retail service to competitive retail electric

⁵¹ R.C. 4928.02(G).

Duke Ex. 5 (Spiller Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 18.

⁵³ R.C. 4928.02(H).

Duke Ex. 5 (Spiller Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 18-19.

⁵⁵ *Id.* at 19.

generation service.⁵⁶ Also, no generation-related costs will be recovered through transmission or distribution rates.⁵⁷

The Stipulation ensures retail electric service consumers protection against unreasonable sales practices, market deficiencies, and market power through the existing Commission consumer protection rules, Commission investigations, and the Commission oversight of competitive procurements.⁵⁸

The Stipulation provides coherent, transparent means of giving appropriate incentives to technologies that can adapt successfully to potential environmental mandates by allowing for an open market for purchasing generation through 2025.⁵⁹ And the Stipulation provides battery storage opportunities to reflect a potential solution for backup power.⁶⁰

The Stipulation encourages implementation of distributed generation across customer classes through regular review and updating of administrative rules governing critical issues such as, but not limited to, interconnection standards, standby charges, and

⁵⁷ *Id*.

R.C. 4928.02(I); Duke Ex. 5 (Spiller Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 20.

R.C. 4928.02(J); Duke Ex. 5 (Spiller Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 21.

Duke Ex. 5 (Spiller Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 22.

⁵⁶ *Id*.

net metering.⁶¹ The Stipulation does not create any barriers to customers who choose to build distributed generation.⁶²

The Stipulation protects at-risk populations, including, but not limited to, when considering the implementation of any new advanced energy or renewable energy resource.⁶³ The Stipulation continues the existing RFP process to procure generation supply for PIPP customers.⁶⁴ The Stipulation also provides funding for programs to be administered for the PWC and the city of Cincinnati.⁶⁵ The Stipulation also does not place any barriers on the continual education of small business owners in this state regarding the use of, and encourage the use of, energy efficiency programs and alternative energy resources in their businesses.⁶⁶

And finally the Stipulation facilitates the state's effectiveness in the global economy by proving long-term stability for Duke's customers.⁶⁷ The Stipulation provides for reasonable, stable, and transparent price structures that will contribute to Ohio global effectiveness.⁶⁸

⁶¹ R.C. 4928.02(K).

Duke Ex. 5 (Spiller Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 22.

⁶³ R.C. 4928.02(L).

Duke Ex. 5 (Spiller Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 23.

⁶⁵ *Id*.

R.C. 4928.02(M); Duke Ex. 5 (Spiller Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 24.

R.C. 4928.02(N); Duke Ex. 5 (Spiller Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 24.

Duke Ex. 5 (Spiller Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 24.

The Stipulation does not violate any important regulatory principle or practice.

The Stipulation, in fact, promotes public policy.

II. The Electric Security Plan Case

A. Rider DCI

The Stipulation provides for the continuation of Duke's existing Rider DCI.⁶⁹ The Stipulation importantly provides numerous parameters which will apply to Rider DCI.⁷⁰ The Stipulation has modified Duke's Rider DCI proposal such that there are revenue caps, a continuation of the annual audits, a requirement for the prospective assessment and approval of new capitalization policy changes, a credit to remove the impact of capitalized employee bonus expenses, a revenue cap adjustment for 2019 and 2020 for missed reliability targets, and an incentive for Duke to timely file its next base distribution rate case and electric service plan.⁷¹ The inclusion of the parameters is a beneficial provision of the Stipulation.⁷²

B. Rider ESRR

The Stipulation provides that the Company can implement Rider ESRR to recover costs recorded in FERC Account 593 related to distribution vegetation management in

Joint Ex. 1 (Stipulation and Recommendation) at 10-13.

⁷⁰ *Id*.

Staff Ex. 8 (McCarter Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 3.

⁷² *Id*.

excess of what will be recovered in base rates.⁷³ Vegetation management is an important activity of the Company in order to avoid outages.⁷⁴ Upon review of recent contractor (or third party) invoices, Staff recognizes that the cost of tree trimming by third-party has spiked recently.⁷⁵ Rider ESRR will enable the Company to maintain its vegetation management requirements, while also ensuring that the funding is entirely directed to vegetation management as the annual audit of the ESRR will verify that all vegetation management dollars embedded in base rates are prudently expensed prior to recovery within the rider for incremental expenses up to a cost cap of \$10 million annually.⁷⁶

C. Rider PF

Per the Stipulation, Rider PF is a new non-bypassable rider intended to support the modernization of energy delivery infrastructure, along with the development of innovative products and services for retail electric customers.⁷⁷ There are three components of Rider PF.⁷⁸

The first component is a placeholder to recover costs associated with the implementation of directives resulting from PowerForward, the Commission's initiative

Joint Exhibit 1 (Stipulation and Recommendation) at 14-15.

Staff Ex. 12 (Lipthratt Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 3.

⁷⁵ *Id*.

⁷⁶ *Id*.

Staff Ex. 10 (Schaefer Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 2.

⁷⁸ *Id*.

to review the latest in technological and regulatory innovation that could serve to enhance the customer electricity experience.⁷⁹ Cost recovery for component one will be subject to a hearing in a separate proceeding, following an application by the Company.⁸⁰

The second component will recover costs associated with the communications infrastructure needed to support the Company's AMI transition and enhancements to the ability of competitive retail electric service (CRES) providers, and potentially other third parties, to access and utilize customer energy usage data (CEUD) made available through smart meters. The scope and functionality of each of the enhancements to data access and utilization are detailed in Attachment F of the Stipulation. Both the communications infrastructure and individual phases of data access enhancements are subject to cost caps. Recovery of prudently incurred costs associated with each individual phase of data access enhancements will not be made available until the functionality detailed in Attachment F is successfully implemented. Staff also has an opportunity to hire a consultant to assist in the review of the functionality of the data access enhancements.

⁷⁹ *Id.* at 2-3.

⁸⁰ *Id.* at 3.

⁸¹ *Id*.

⁸² *Id.*

⁸³ *Id.*

⁸⁴ *Id.*

⁸⁵ *Id.*

The third component is a placeholder to recover costs associated with an infrastructure modernization plan to be filed by the Company in a future case.⁸⁶ The plan will include a proposal to upgrade the Company's Customer Information System (CIS).⁸⁷ Like component one of Rider PF, cost recovery for component three will be subject to a hearing in a separate proceeding, following an application by the Company.⁸⁸

Rider PF is a beneficial provision of the Stipulation. Rider PF will further state policy and provide benefits to the overall Stipulation.⁸⁹ R.C. 4828.02(D) states it is the policy of the state to:

encourage innovation and market access for cost-effective supply- and demand-side retail electric service including, but not limited to, demand-side management, time-differentiated pricing, waste energy recovery systems, smart grid programs, and implementation of advanced metering infrastructure.⁹⁰

The implementation of Rider PF furthers that objective by supporting the development of innovative products and services and giving Ohio customers more control over their energy usage. Specifically, the implementation of Rider PF will make granular CEUD available to CRES providers and update the settlement systems and processes for

```
86 Id. at 3-4.
```

⁸⁷ *Id.* at 4.

⁸⁸ *Id.*

⁸⁹ *Id*.

⁹⁰ R.C. 4928.02(D)

Staff Ex. 10 (Schaefer Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 4.

wholesale market data, so it can be monetized in the provision of retail electric service. ⁹² This includes calculating and settling individual total hourly energy obligation (THEO), peak load contribution (PLC) and network service peak load (NSPL) values for each customer, instead of relying on generic load profiles. ⁹³ This customer-specific data will give customers more control over their energy consumption, so they can save money. ⁹⁴ Finally, while the first and third components of Rider PF are currently placeholders, they provide future opportunities for the Commission to examine proposals that would further state policy objectives through grid modernization and enhancements to the customer experience. ⁹⁵

D. Eliminating Rider DR-IM

Once new base rates are implemented, the current rider for recovery of Duke's initial deployment of SmartGrid will be eliminated. From that point on, the costs currently being recovered in the distribution reliability – infrastructure modernization rider (Rider DR-IM) will be recovered in base distribution rates eliminating the need for Rider DR-IM.

24

⁹² *Id*.

⁹³ *Id.* at 4-5

⁹⁴ *Id.* at 5.

⁹⁵ *Id.*

Duke Ex. 30 (Wathen Second Supplemental in Support of Stipulation) at 19.

⁹⁷ *Id*.

E. Eliminating Rider RMR

In its ESP Application and in the Rate Case Application, the Company proposed to establish Rider RMR for the recovery of costs related to regulatory mandates. In the Stipulation, Duke withdrew its proposal for Rider RMR.⁹⁸ The removal of Rider RMR is a beneficial provision of the Stipulation.⁹⁹

F. Rider UE-GEN and PAR Program

The Stipulation continues Duke's Rider UE-GEN and the PAR program. Staff recommends that the Commission approve the hiring of an independent auditor to audit Duke's PAR program and related Rider UE-GEN. The scope of the audit shall include without limitation, the sufficiency of Duke's internal processes and controls for ensuring that Duke is purchasing only those receivables it is authorized to purchase and recover through the PAR program; the sufficiency of internal processes and controls for monitoring CRES provider's compliance with Duke's PAR program agreement; and findings and recommendations regarding the foregoing. 102

25

Joint Ex. 1 (Stipulation and Recommendation) at 24.

⁹⁹ Staff Ex. 8 (McCarter Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 3.

Joint Ex. 1 (Stipulation and Recommendation) at 22.

Staff Ex. 14 (Smith Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 3.

¹⁰² *Id*.

An independent audit of the PAR and Rider UE-GEN is necessary. During the review of the various processes for debt collection, the Company expressed a reliance on several agreements to provide the rules, procedures, and controls for the PAR program. These agreements include The Account Receivables Purchase Agreement, the Duke Supplier Retail Tariff, and the Sale and Assignment Agreements. Together these agreements provide the Company with the authority to inspect the CRES accounting records, make inquiries into internal and external reports, and review individual transactions.

Staff found that the Company did not actively review, inquire, or inspect any supplier receivable between 2014 and 2017.¹⁰⁷ Furthermore, the Company did not review a single internal or external audit report regarding the CRES receivables.¹⁰⁸ The Company relies on a math check as the rate ready control but has no such math check for bill ready.¹⁰⁹ Internal controls are important tools for management in the creation of financial statements to ensure that management's presentation is accurate and free from

¹⁰³ *Id*.

¹⁰⁴ *Id*.

¹⁰⁵ *Id*.

106 *Id.* at 3-4.

107 *Id.* at 4.

¹⁰⁸ *Id.*

¹⁰⁹ *Id*.

fraud. The Company has within its agreements with CRES suppliers multiple opportunities to ensure that the terms of the agreements are fulfilled and that errors or fraud are discovered or avoided. The company has within its agreements with CRES suppliers multiple opportunities to ensure that the terms of the agreements are fulfilled and that errors or fraud are discovered or avoided.

G. Rider DSR

The Stipulation modifies the mechanism for Rider DSR by updating the amount assumed to be in base rates. Staff determined that \$4.3 million be the amount included in base and distribution revenue requirement; therefore, once the Stipulation is approved, the basis for measuring storm costs will be to compare the actual costs for major storms to a base amount of \$4.3 million. The Stipulation also abandons the current model of the threshold trigger for flowing through difference between the actual costs and the amount in base rates and, instead requires that Duke, beginning in 2019, annually update the Rider DSR and begin flowing through the balance of the deferral (positive or negative) that exists on December 31 of the prior year.

The storm costs update will be part of a separate docket and subject to audit. 115

The filing will be made around March 31 each year at which time Staff may audit the

¹¹⁰ *Id*.

¹¹¹ *Id*.

Joint Ex. 1 (Stipulation and Recommendation) at 15-16.

Duke Ex. 30 (Wathen Second Supplemental in Support of Stipulation) at 18.

¹¹⁴ *Id*.

¹¹⁵ *Id*.

prior year's expenditures and, if so, will submit a report. To the extent the Commission uses outside auditors that paid by Duke, the expense of such audit will be recovered in the rider. To the extent the

H. Net Metering

The Stipulation settles issues regarding the manner in which credits for net metering are calculated and how the costs incurred by Duke for such payments will be recovered. Upon approval of this Stipulation, Duke will begin providing that credits for net metering will be available to customers taking service under the SSO rates or from a CRES provider. The credit is limited to the then current rate for Rider RE, only. The cost incurred by Duke to provide the credits will be recovered in Rider SCR. 121

I. Rider BDP

As part of the Stipulation, Duke agreed to modify it rates for service under its Back-up Delivery Point Rider. Upon approval of the Stipulation, Rider BDP rates will be reduced in three steps from the current rates as outlined on page 23 of the

¹¹⁶ *Id*.

¹¹⁷ *Id*.

Duke Ex. 30 (Wathen Second Supplemental in Support of Stipulation) at 23.

¹¹⁹ *Id*.

¹²⁰ *Id.* at 23-24.

¹²¹ *Id.* at 24.

Duke Ex. 30 (Wathen Second Supplemental in Support of Stipulation) at 25.

Stipulation.¹²³ The result of this modification is an overall reduction in the charges for this service to customers wishing to have enhanced reliability service through a redundant feed.¹²⁴

J. Rider BTR

The Stipulation provides that demand-related charges in Rider BTR will be allocated to the rate classes based on their respective contribution to the 1 CP in Duke's zone in order to better align the cost of transmission service with the basis for the costs are incurred. Although this change will have the effect of increasing and decreasing various customer classes, it is an appropriate correction to the current allocation methodology and is consistent with traditional principles of cost causation. 126

K. Corporate Separation Plan Modifications

Duke has agreed to withdraw proposed modifications to its corporate separation plan that would have enabled the Company to offer customers products and services other than electric retail services. The Stipulation updates the corporate separation plan by eliminating the proposed ability to offer these additional services. 128

29

¹²³ *Id.*

¹²⁴ *Id*.

Duke Ex. 30 (Wathen Second Supplemental in Support of Stipulation) at 22.

¹²⁶ *Id.*

Duke Ex. 30 (Wathen Second Supplemental in Support of Stipulation) at 23.

¹²⁸ *Id*.

L. SSO Procurement and Pricing

The Stipulation provides that the Company will continue using an auction process for procuring generation and generation-related services as it has done since 2011. The process for converting the resulting wholesale auction price into separate retail process for capacity and energy is also essentially unchanged. The template for converting wholesale SSO auction priced into retail prices for capacity (Rider RC) and energy (Rider RE) is outlines in Stipulation Attachment B. In order to ensure that customers and the Company are made whole, the existing Supplier Cost Recovery Rider (Rider SCR) will continue. Rider SCR provides that the Company will refund Rider RC and Rider RE, plus the costs incurred by Duke with conducting the auctions. Currently, the costs related to the procurement of SSO service for PIPP customers is also collected in Rider SCR; however, this cost will no longer be collected in Rider SCR upon approval of the Stipulation.

Duke Ex. 30 (Wathen Second Supplemental in Support of the Stipulation) at 4.

¹³⁰ *Id.*

¹³¹ *Id.* at 4-5.

¹³² *Id.* at 5.

¹³³ *Id*.

¹³⁴ *Id*.

Since the last ESP was approved, the Company began conducting separate requests for proposal (RFPs) to procure power for customers served under the PIPP. 135 Although the Stipulation provides for a continuation of that process, there will be a change in how the costs incurred by Duke for conducting such requests will be recovered. 136

M. Significantly Excessive Earnings Test

As part of the Stipulation, the parties agreed to maintain the current formula for calculating Duke's ROE for purposes of annual significantly excessive earning test (SEET) review.¹³⁷ The Stipulation also commits Duke to initiate a proceeding mid-way through the term of the ESP to address the provisions in R.C. 4928.143(E) comparing the ESP to an MRO for the balance of the proposed ESP term.¹³⁸

N. Certified Supplier Tariff

Duke agreed to several modifications in the Stipulation to its Certified Supplier Tariffs. 139

¹³⁶ *Id*.

Duke Ex. 30 (Wathen Second Supplemental in Support of Stipulation) at 27.

¹³⁸ *Id*.

Duke Ex. 30 (Wathen Second Supplemental in Support of Stipulation) at 25-26.

31

¹³⁵ *Id.*

O. Large Customer Interruptible Load Program

The Stipulation provides that Duke's existing Large Customer Interruptible Load Program will terminate effective May 31, 2018, subject to any final reconciliation. 140 However, to properly balance the need for qualifying mercantile customers to enter into Commission-approved reasonable arrangements for their electric service with Duke's interest in ensuring cost recovery and revenue neutrality for such customers receiving a Commission-approved unique arrangement for electric service, provision is mode to strike that necessary balance. 141 Any costs incurred by Duke as a result of Commission-approved reasonable arrangement between Duke and a customer will be recovered via the Company's economic competitiveness fund rider (Rider ECF). 142 The Stipulation also provides that any dollars to be collected under rider ECF will be applied to customers' bills as a percentage of their monthly charge for base distribution service. 143 This provision is consistent with similar rate structured for other EDUs that have been authorized by the Commission. 144

Id. at 27.

Id. at 27-28.

Id. at 28.

Id.

¹⁴⁴ *Id*.

P. Hospital Working Group

Adding to its current commitment to provide safe, reliable, and efficient service, Duke has agreed to establish an internal working group to engage with OHA on issues of reliability, maintenance, and load growth that may impact the OHA.¹⁴⁵

Q. Low Income Assistance

The Stipulation provides significant benefits to low-income customers. ¹⁴⁶ First, the base distribution rates will continue supporting \$522,000 in annual funding for low-income programs administered by PWC. ¹⁴⁷ Second, the Company will contribute \$250,000, annually, to the city of Cincinnati for additional low-income programs. ¹⁴⁸ Third, the overall result of the Stipulation will have the effect of maintaining Duke's relatively low rates for electric service. ¹⁴⁹ Finally, for those low-income customers who are also low-usage customers, the Stipulation will keep the customer charge at a much lower rate than other electric or gas utilities and will eliminate all of the other existing fixed charges. ¹⁵⁰

¹⁴⁵ *Id.* at 29.

¹⁴⁶ *Id.* at 30.

¹⁴⁷ *Id*.

¹⁴⁸ *Id*.

¹⁴⁹ *Id*.

¹⁵⁰ *Id.*

R. City of Cincinnati

The Company and the city of Cincinnati have entered into a cooperation agreement that is set forth in Stipulation Attachment G.¹⁵¹ The terms of this agreement resolve issues surrounding the City's use of Rider BDP service for its Critical Facilities, as well as commitments to cooperate on matters of mutual and local concern including, but not limited to facility relocation, provide expertise to the City for its Solar initiative and for battery storage.¹⁵² The resolution of the issue of BDP service will also result in the dismissal of a complaint between the City and Duke that is currently pending before the Commission.¹⁵³

S. Term of the ESP

The Stipulation provides that the new ESP will begin with the effective date of an Order by the Commission approving this Stipulation through May 31, 2025.¹⁵⁴ This term will provide rate stability for Duke customers and will mark the longest period of stability for Duke since the passing of the ESP statute.¹⁵⁵

¹⁵¹ *Id*.

¹⁵² *Id.* at 29-30.

¹⁵³ *Id.* at 30.

¹⁵⁴ *Id.* at 3.

¹⁵⁵ *Id.* at 4.

T. The MRO v. ESP Test

The Electric Security Plan (ESP) proposed is more favorable in the aggregate than a Market-Rate Offer (MRO). Considering the ESP's pricing and all other terms and conditions, as proposed in the Stipulation, the ESP recommended by the Signatory Parties is more favorable in the aggregate than the expected results of an MRO under R.C. 4928.142.¹⁵⁶

In Staff's quantitative analysis of the MRO versus ESP test, Staff reviewed past precedent with respect to which riders and costs should be included in the quantitative analysis of the MRO versus ESP test. ¹⁵⁷ Under the ESP in the proposed Stipulation, the base generation rates to be charged to SSO customers will continue to be established through a fully auction-based process and, therefore, generation rates are considered equivalent to the results that would be obtained under R.C. 4928.142. ¹⁵⁸ The recovery of the revenue requirements associated with distribution-related riders are considered to be the same whether recovered through the ESP or a distribution rate case conducted in conjunction with an MRO¹⁵⁹ and, accordingly, Staff did not consider such investments in

Staff Ex. 17 (Donlon Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 11-12.

¹⁵⁷ *Id.* at 12

¹⁵⁸ *Id.*

Id. citing In the Matter of the Application of the Ohio Power Company for Authority to Establish a Standard Service Offer Pursuant to R.C. 4928.143, in the Form of an Electric Security Plan, Case No. 16-1852-EL-SSO, et al., Opinion and Order at 123 (April 25, 2018).

our quantitative MRO versus ESP analysis.¹⁶⁰ The lone rider that would not be allowable under an MRO would be Rider PSR, which was previously approved, and under the Stipulation, the Company will be allowed to populate the rider.¹⁶¹ The quantitative analysis of the MRO versus ESP test will be dependent on the cost and revenue associated and collected or credited through Rider PSR.¹⁶²

The difficulty of forecasting the impact of Rider PSR on consumers has increased due to recent events. ¹⁶³ It is typically difficult to forecast total revenues out past PJM's capacity auction, but based on the current auction results it becomes even more difficult to forecast cost out into the future. ¹⁶⁴ The 2021/2022 capacity payment results were \$140 MW-day, while the 2020/2021 capacity payment results were \$76.53 MW-day. Therefore, for the 2021/2022 PJM delivery year, the capacity payment almost doubled. ¹⁶⁵ The steep increase in capacity payments, while still showing a 22% reserve margin, which was 5.7% higher than PJM's target, points to a potential increase in generators' concern of the capacity performance market and adding the risk factor into the cost of capacity. ¹⁶⁶ Capacity performance will be effective starting in the 2020/2021 delivery

Staff Ex. 17 (Donlon Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 12.

¹⁶¹ *Id*.

¹⁶² *Id.* at 12-13.

¹⁶³ *Id.* at 13.

¹⁶⁴ *Id*.

¹⁶⁵ *Id*.

¹⁶⁶ *Id.*

year, thus accurately predicting generators added risk factor for the capacity payments will be extremely difficult as the capacity payments fluctuate year to year and until the generators are able to get comfortable with the actual results.¹⁶⁷

Adding to the difficulty of forecasting the energy market, President Trump directed the Secretary of the Department of Energy (DOE) to prepare immediate steps to stop the loss of fuel-secure power facilities. While the DOE has not yet issued an order to this effect, it has drafted a memorandum, described as an Addendum, that provides for the potential use of its authority under Section 202(C) of the Federal Power Act to provide relief to coal and nuclear facilities. 169

The quantitative costs and benefits of the ESP when compared to the MRO are difficult to forecast with a high level of accuracy and/or certainty due to the multiple variables that are in flux.¹⁷⁰ However, Staff does recognize that Company Witness Rose's current forecast projects a negative result for Rider PSR, when sunk cost are included.¹⁷¹ Since Rider PSR is the lone rider which would not be allowable under an

¹⁶⁷ *Id*.

Id. at 13-14 citing, Sarah Huckabee Sanders, The White House, Statement from the Press Secretary on Fuel-Secure Power Facilities (June 1, 2018), https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefings-statements/statement-press-secretary-fuel-secure-power-facilities/

Staff Ex. 17 (Donlon Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 14 citing, Draft Addendum (May 29, 2018), available at https://www.documentcloud.org/documents/4491203-Grid-Memo.html.

Staff Ex. 17 (Donlon Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 14.

¹⁷¹ *Id*.

MRO, it would result in a negative outcome for the quantitative analysis of the ESP versus MRO test.¹⁷² Based on the forecast available at this time, Staff believes that the negative quantitative results associated with Rider PSR are offset by the qualitative benefits of the ESP, as described below.¹⁷³

The qualitative benefits of the ESP should also be considered when reviewing the MRO versus ESP test.¹⁷⁴ The ESP proposed in this Stipulation provides Duke customers numerous benefits and advances many of the state policy objectives enumerated in R.C. 4928.02.¹⁷⁵ An ESP filing provides the most flexibility in order to achieve outcomes that are advantageous for all of the parties involved.¹⁷⁶ The qualitative benefits provided for in the Stipulation include provisions for enhancements to the retail competitive market, battery storage options, low income protections, promotion of innovative measures related to the PowerForward initiatives, and vegetation management flexibility.¹⁷⁷

The Stipulation provides qualitative benefits in regard to retail market enhancements. Through the creation of Rider PF, the Stipulation allows for recovery of costs associated with the communications infrastructure needed to support AMI, along

¹⁷² *Id*.

¹⁷³ *Id*.

174 *Id.* at 15.

¹⁷⁵ *Id*.

¹⁷⁶ *Id*.

¹⁷⁷ *Id*.

with enhancements to the accessibility and usability of customer energy usage data (CEUD). The Stipulation provides a detailed plan for potential recovery, with specific guidelines and parameters to ensure that data is available to marketers. Without the customer data, innovative products and services cannot be made available. While there are diverse group of marketers in the Duke service territory, we are still just scratching the surface of what products and services can be offered to the consumers in a competitive market. With interval data and individual peak load contributions (PLC), marketers can develop customer-specific products that can benefit consumers. Many of these offers are currently available to large industrials, but are not available to residential consumers due to the lack of information on their specific usage profile. Additionally, with the availability of data, new and inventive technologies and opportunities will arise, but the data has to be available to allow for new technology to emerge. The Stipulation sets up a detailed plan with incentives for the Company to

¹⁷⁸ *Id.* at 15-16 citing Joint Ex. 1 (Stipulation and Recommendation) at 16-17.

¹⁷⁹ *Id.* at 16.

¹⁸⁰ *Id.*

¹⁸¹ *Id*.

¹⁸² *Id.*

¹⁸³ *Id.*

¹⁸⁴ *Id*.

ensure the proper deployment of data access which will allow for market enhancements that can benefit customers. 185

The Stipulation states that the Company will withdraw its proposal to offer products and services other than retail electric service that are included in the proposed tariff language set forth in the entirety of "Part 6 – Special Customer Services," which is found in the Company's ESP Application, Attachments JEZ-1 and JEZ-2 to the Direct Testimony of James E. Ziolkowski, as detailed in the Stipulation. The Company's agreement to withdraw the proposal to offer products and services other than retail electric services allows for the competitive market to offer those products and continue to grow and thrive. The Company of the competitive market to offer those products and continue to grow and thrive.

Rider DCI provides qualitative benefits in the Stipulation for the ESP.¹⁸⁸ The structure of the DCI provides an economical and efficient process that enables the Company to make investments in its distribution system, which improves both the safety and reliability of the distribution system.¹⁸⁹ Additionally, the Company is required to file at least one base distribution rate case application on or before May 31, 2024 or lose the

¹⁸⁵ *Id.*

186 *Id.* at 16-17.

187 *Id.* at 17.

¹⁸⁸ *Id.*

¹⁸⁹ *Id*.

DCI. This provision provides the opportunity to quantify, through the natural course of a rate case, the benefits of Rider PF and other initiatives provided for in this stipulation.¹⁹⁰

The battery storage provision in the Stipulation for this ESP provides qualitative benefits. 191 To the extent the Commission would approve distribution-related battery storage, the investment associated with it can be recovered through the DCI Rider. 192 For purposes of the qualitative benefits to the ESP, battery storage will allow the Company more flexibility when addressing distribution reliability and poor performing circuits. 193 Defining the parameters for recovery of prudent investments into battery storage allows the Company a clear path for cost recovery. 194 With a clear path for cost recovery, the Company can deploy battery technology with more confidence, when it is the least cost option and prudent decision for addressing distribution reliability issues and poorly performing circuits. 195 This provides qualitative benefits to the customers in increased reliability at a reduced cost, while also providing additional data points on how battery storage can be deployed on the distribution system to increase reliability at a lower cost than upgrading and expanding circuits and distribution lines. 196

¹⁹⁰ *Id.*

¹⁹¹ *Id.*

¹⁹² *Id*.

¹⁹³ *Id.* at 17-18.

¹⁹⁴ *Id.* at 18.

¹⁹⁵ *Id*.

¹⁹⁶ *Id*.

The provision in the Stipulation for the hospital working group provides a qualitative benefit.¹⁹⁷ The Stipulation calls for the Company to establish an internal working group that shall be readily available to engage active members of the OHA in respect to issues related to reliability, maintenance and load growth. Hospitals are an essential part of our society and ensuring that hospitals have consistent continuous power is essential to Ohio and its residents. 199 Likewise, the provision for low-income customers also provides qualitative benefits.²⁰⁰ The Stipulation provides funds for weatherization programs to be administered by People Working Cooperatively to assist low-income families.²⁰¹ These programs help low income families by providing various weatherization techniques to help reduce the amount of energy low income families need to heat and/or cool their residencies, which will reduce their usage and thus their overall bills. Additionally, through the Stipulation, funds will be made available to the City of Cincinnati to assist customers at or below 200 percent of the federal poverty guidelines, with disconnections for nonpayment and energy efficiency programs and public service announcements.202

197

¹⁹⁸ *Id*.

Id.

¹⁹⁹ *Id*.

200 *Id.* at 19.

²⁰¹ *Id*.

²⁰² *Id*.

The Stipulation's PowerForward initiatives provide qualitative benefits. ²⁰³ The electric industry is experiencing its first major transformation in over 100 years.²⁰⁴ In many ways, the electric grid is the same today as it was then, but with new technology – and a new desire on how we control, view and use power – the industry is changing. ²⁰⁵ To ensure that Ohio is poised to move into the future in an intelligent, measured and deliberate way, the Commission commenced its PowerForward initiative.²⁰⁶ Within the PowerForward initiative, the Commission intends to potentially establish the direction that the Commission wishes to take to usher Ohio into the future to benefit the consumers in Ohio.²⁰⁷ To allow for the Company to enact the specific directives that the Commission may initiate in its policy framework document, the Company must have a venue to recover the prudent costs associated with the Commission's directives. ²⁰⁸ The Stipulation sets up a placeholder rider to ensure the Company can initiate the Commission's directives to enhance the electric industry for the betterment of all Ohio's customers without the need for a new ESP or rate case being filed after the Commission issues the policy framework document.²⁰⁹

²⁰³ *Id.*

²⁰⁴ *Id*.

²⁰⁵ *Id*.

²⁰⁶ *Id.* at 19-20.

²⁰⁷ *Id.* at 20.

²⁰⁸ *Id*.

²⁰⁹ *Id*.

The infrastructure modernization plan in the Stipulation is yet another qualitative benefit. The infrastructure modernization plan is a placeholder for the Company to provide a detailed proposal for a Customer Information System (CIS), which will be a project to update the system that manages the billing, accounts receivable, rates, and is the central repository for all of the customer information for all the Duke companies. The updated CIS should provide a holistic view of the customer's information and enable the expected customer capabilities. Rider ESRR also provides qualitative benefits. Vegetation management is an important activity of the Company in order to avoid outages. Rider ESRR will enable the Company to maintain its vegetation management requirements, while allowing for prudently incurred price flexibility without burdening ratepayers with a guaranteed higher allotment of fixed expenses in base rates.

Even though Rider PSR was projected to incur the losses, when sunk costs are included, as forecasted by Company Witness Rose, the ESP is still better in the aggregate than an MRO.²¹⁵ In other words, if Rider PSR does end up being net negative, quantitatively, over the term of the ESP in the amount projected by Company Witness

²¹⁰ *Id.* at 20-21.

²¹¹ *Id.* at 21.

²¹² *Id*.

²¹³ *Id*.

²¹⁴ *Id*.

²¹⁵ *Id.* at 22.

Rose, all of the qualitative benefits still outweigh the potential for a negative quantitative result.²¹⁶ In the aggregate, the ESP is more beneficial than a hypothetical MRO, even if Witness Rose's net impact is assumed with sunk costs included.²¹⁷ In the end, the qualitative benefits of the ESP when factored with the quantitative factors cause the ESP to be more beneficial than the MRO in the aggregate.

III. The Rate Case

A. Base Rate Reduction

The Stipulation reflects an overall reduction in base distribution revenue of \$19.17 million.²¹⁸ The reduction in base revenues is to be allocated evenly across all rate classes such that each rate class will see, on average, an approximate 4% reduction in base revenue.²¹⁹ For all rate classes, except for Distribution Secondary (DS) customers, the customer charge will be unchanged from current.²²⁰ For rate DS, the customer charge will be reduced from \$229 per bill to \$100 per bill to more closely align with the cost of service and the demand rate for Rate DS is adjusted upward to make the change to the customer charge revenue neutral.²²¹

45

²¹⁶ *Id*.

²¹⁷ *Id.*

Duke Ex. 30 (Wathen Second Supplemental in Support of Stipulation) at 6.

²¹⁹ *Id*.

²²⁰ *Id.*

²²¹ *Id*.

The base rate reduction reflects (1) a return on equity of 9.84%; (2) an equity ratio of 50.75%; and (3) depreciation expense calculated at rates proposed by the Staff, including amortization of existing meters and equipment related to the initial deployment of SmartGrid that will be retired early.²²²

B. Objections related to Rider DCI and Rider RMR

The Ohio Consumers' Counsel (OCC) states that it has a statutory-based concern regarding the appropriateness of addressing the DCI in the rate case.²²³ Duke's DCI has been addressed in the Stipulation as part of the ESP.²²⁴ Therefore, OCC's statutory concern has no merit. OCC also objects to the revenue caps recommended by Staff in the Staff Report stating that Staff should have considered the impact that the caps will have on customers' bills and the overall affordability of Duke's retail rates.²²⁵ As part of the Stipulation, the DCI revenue caps were calculated as a percentage growth based upon the base distribution revenue requirement authorized in this case.²²⁶ The DCI revenue caps are therefore based not solely upon a company's desired budget and its ability to raise capital to fund any particular investment level, but also upon how much a customer's bill

46

²²² *Id*.

Objections to the Staff Report by OCC at 5 (October 26, 2017).

Staff Ex. 8 (McCarter Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 3.

Objections to the Staff Report by OCC at 5 (October 26, 2017).

Staff Ex. 8 (McCarter Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 3.

may increase due to distribution plant spending.²²⁷ As such, the caps balance the level of distribution investments with the amount that will appear on a customer's bill.²²⁸ The DCI revenue caps are, therefore, treated properly.

The Retail Energy Supply Association's (RESA), in its Objection No. 5, seeks clarification on whether the words, "Staff does not recommend...." equates to Staff being neutral on whether the Commission rejects or accepts Duke's proposed Rider RMR.²²⁹

Staff does not support Duke's proposed Rider RMR and Rider RMR was expressly removed from Duke's SSO request in the pending Stipulation.²³⁰

In its Objection 2, OCC objects to Staff's recommendation in the Staff Report to accelerate the amortization of Duke's current AMI meters, arguing that the installation of the technology was not prudent and that the costs should be excluded from rate base. Staff disagrees. Staff properly set the cost of the meters on an accelerated recovery schedule based on the Commission's decision to allow recovery of those costs. Because the Echelon Meter is being removed and that meter type would no longer be

²²⁷ *Id.* at 3-4.

²²⁸ *Id.* at 4.

RESA/IGS Ex. 2 (Objections to the Staff Report by RESA) at Objection No. 5.

Staff Ex. 8 (McCarter Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 4.

Objections to the Staff Report by OCC at 7 (October 26, 2017).

Staff Ex. 8 (McCarter Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 5.

available for additional installation, Staff set the account as a dying account with an accelerated recovery period.²³³

C. Objections related to Green Button Direct, Time-Differentiated Rates, the Customer Information System, and the LED Outdoor Electric Service Tariff.

The Environmental Defense Fund (EDF), Environmental Law and Policy Center (ELPC), Natural Resources Defense Council (NRDC), and Ohio Environmental Council (OEC) (Environmental Intervenors) stated that the Staff Report did not recommend that Duke implement Green Button²³⁴ "Connect My Data", which is a standard that enables retail electricity customers to authorize the release of customer energy usage data to third parties, either through a one-time data transfer or on an ongoing basis. For this reason, the Environmental Intervenors believe the Staff Report is unjust and unreasonable. Staff disagrees. Staff recognizes that providing access to customer energy usage data for retail customers and third parties, including competitive retail electric service providers, is an important measure to ensure that the benefits associated with smart meters are maximized. However, Staff notes that the Stipulation was filed in the current cases that advances smart meter data access. Specifically, the Stipulation establishes a new

²³³ *Id.*

See Green Button Data, available at http://www.greenbuttondata.org/.

Objections to the Staff Report by the Environmental Intervenors at 1 (Oct. 26, 2017).

Staff Ex. 11 (Schaefer Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 3.

²³⁷ *Id*.

non-bypassable rider, Rider PF, which is intended to support the modernization of energy delivery infrastructure, along with the development of innovative products and services for retail electric customers.²³⁸ Again, there are three components of Rider PF:

- The first component is a placeholder to recover costs associated with the implementation of directives resulting from PowerForward, the Commission's initiative to review the latest in technological and regulatory innovation that could serve to enhance the customer electricity experience;
- The second component will recover costs associated with the communications infrastructure needed to support the Company's AMI transition and enhancements to the ability of competitive retail electric service (CRES) providers, and potentially other third parties, to access and utilize customer energy usage data (CEUD) made available through smart meters; and
- The third component is a placeholder to recover costs associated with an infrastructure modernization plan to be filed by the Company in a future case. The plan will include a proposal to upgrade the Company's Customer Information System (CIS).²³⁹

The Commission's PowerForward initiative is still underway. Staff notes that during phase three of the workshops (PowerForward: Ratemaking & Regulation), there was a panel devoted to the need for and accessibility of customer energy usage data.²⁴⁰ The Green Button standard was discussed within the context of several speaker presentations.

49

Joint Ex. 1 (Stipulation and Recommendation) at 16-18.

Staff Ex. 11 (Schaefer Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 3-4.

Id. citing PowerFoward: Ratemaking and Regulation, *available at* https://www.puco.ohio.gov/industry-information/industry-topics/powerforward/phase-3-ratemaking-and-regulation/.

Further, the second component of Rider PF requires the Company to file an application in an electric rider (EL-RDR) case for the costs associated with providing the data enhancements for CRES providers listed in Attachment F of the Stipulation, along with the costs of the communications infrastructure needed to support the AMI transition.²⁴¹ In addition, if a non-CRES third party is interested in receiving customer energy usage data, the Company is required to develop a proposal to provide retail customers with the ability to authorize the release of customer energy usage data to third parties. To the extent the Environmental Intervenors believe this proposal should include an evaluation of Green Button "Connect My Data", Staff encourages the Environmental Intervenors to provide input into the electric rider case, once it is initiated.

Both RESA and IGS objected to Staff's recommendation in the Staff Report²⁴² that, "the Company continue to offer a time-differentiated rate to residential customers until such time the Commission has made a determination that time-of-day rates are available to customers in the retail marketplace."²⁴³ IGS further objected that the Staff Report failed to recommend that generation-related time-differentiated rates should be based on wholesale market prices and not recovered through distribution rates.²⁴⁴ Staff

Id. at 5 citing Joint Ex. 1 (Stipulation and Recommendation) at 16-17.

RESA/IGS Ex. 2 (Objections to the Staff Report by RESA) at Objection No. 3; IGS Ex. 3 (Objections to the Staff Report by IGS) at 10-11.

Staff Ex. 11 (Schaefer Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 5 citing Staff Ex. 2 (Staff Report) at 21 (Sept. 26, 2017).

IGS Ex. 3 (Objections to the Staff Report by IGS) at 11.

disagrees.²⁴⁵ As described in the Staff Report in this case, in Case No. 12-3151-EL-COI, the Commission stated that: "EDUs time-differentiated rate pilot programs should be made available to SSO customers until the market sufficiently develops for CRES providers to begin offering this service."²⁴⁶ As of now, Staff is unaware of any CRES providers offering time-differentiated rates to residential customers in the Company's service territory.²⁴⁷ As referenced earlier, the Stipulation adopted in the current case includes a number of provisions that will enable CRES providers to offer additional products and services in the future, including time-differentiated rates.²⁴⁸ However, until the market sufficiently develops, Staff believes that the Company should continue to offer time-differentiated rates to residential customers.²⁴⁹ Staff agrees that the rates for time-differentiated generation service should reflect wholesale market prices and should not be recovered through distribution rates.²⁵⁰

IGS objected to the Staff Report because it did not comprehensively evaluate the Company's proposed Customer Information System (CIS), including the ability of the proposed CIS to accommodate supplier consolidated billing and non-commodity

Staff Ex. 11 (Schaefer Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 6.

Id. citing In the Matter of the Commission's Investigation of Ohio's Retail Electric Service Market, Case No. 12-3151-EL-COI, Finding & Order at 38 (March 26, 2014).

²⁴⁷ *Id.* at 6.

²⁴⁸ *Id*.

²⁴⁹ *Id*.

²⁵⁰ *Id.* at 6-7.

billing.²⁵¹ IGS also objected to the Staff Report because it failed to address the Company's ability to provide access to customer energy usage data.²⁵² Similarly, IGS objected to the Staff Report because it did not require the Company to update its wholesale settlement systems and processes to calculate the total hourly energy obligation (THEO), peak load contribution (PLC), and network service peak load (NSPL) values on an individual basis for all customers.²⁵³ Staff disagrees.²⁵⁴ Staff believes that these issues have been resolved or additional direction has been provided by the Stipulation filed in the current case. As mentioned earlier, the Stipulation establishes a new non-bypassable rider, Rider PF, which includes three components.

The second component will recover costs associated with the communications infrastructure needed to support the Company's AMI transition and enhancements to the ability of CRES providers, and potentially other third parties, to access and utilize customer energy usage data (CEUD) made available through smart meters. The scope and functionality of each of the enhancements to data access and utilization are detailed in Attachment F of the Stipulation. This includes calculating and settling individual

Objections to the Staff Report by IGS at 16-17 (Oct. 26, 2017).

²⁵² *Id.* at 12-13.

²⁵³ *Id.* at 16.

Staff Ex. 11 (Schaefer Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 7-8.

²⁵⁵ *Id.* at 8 citing Joint Ex. 1 (Stipulation and Recommendation) at 16-17.

²⁵⁶ *Id.* at 8.

THEO, PLC, and NSPL values for each customer, instead of relying on generic load profiles, along with the enhancements needed to provide access to the data for CRES providers.²⁵⁷

Both the communications infrastructure and individual phases of data access enhancements are subject to cost caps.²⁵⁸ Recovery of prudently incurred costs associated with each individual phase of data access enhancements will not be made available until the functionality detailed in Attachment F is successfully implemented.²⁵⁹ Staff also has an opportunity to hire a consultant to assist in the review of the functionality of the data access enhancements.²⁶⁰

Finally, the third component is a placeholder to recover costs associated with an infrastructure modernization plan filed by the Company.²⁶¹ The plan will include a proposal to upgrade the CIS.²⁶² Cost recovery for component three will be subject to a hearing in a separate proceeding, following an application by the Company.²⁶³ Staff recommends that IGS provide input regarding the CIS within that case.²⁶⁴

²⁵⁷ *Id.*

²⁵⁸ *Id.*

²⁵⁹ *Id.*

²⁶⁰ *Id.* at 8-9.

Id. at 9 citing Joint Ex. 1 (Stipulation and Recommendation) at 16-17.

²⁶² *Id.* at 9.

²⁶³ *Id*.

²⁶⁴ *Id*.

In the Staff Report, Staff recommended approval of the Company's proposed LED Outdoor Lighting Electric Service tariff, which offers service through Company-owned LED lighting fixtures.²⁶⁵ RESA and IGS object to Staff's recommendation because they state that LED technology is available in the competitive marketplace.²⁶⁶ Staff disagrees.²⁶⁷ The Company currently has street lighting service for other Company-owned lighting fixtures using other lighting technologies, including: mercury vapor, metal halide, and sodium vapor.²⁶⁸ Staff does not understand why RESA and IGS would object to LED lighting services at the tariffed rate, but has not objected to the other lighting services.²⁶⁹

D. Objections related to test year operating expenses, Rider DR-IM, and rate base calculation.

OCC claims the Staff Report erred by increasing test year operating expenses by \$67,787 for generation related net metering costs.²⁷⁰ As part of the Stipulation, however,

Id. citing Staff Ex. 1 (Staff Report) at 21.

Id. citing RESA/IGS Ex. 2 (Objections to the Staff Report by RESA) at Objection
 No. 4; IGS Ex. 3 (Objections to the Staff Report) by IGS at 17.

²⁶⁷ *Id.* at 10.

²⁶⁸ *Id.*

²⁶⁹ *Id*.

Objections to the Staff Report by OCC, Objection No. 4.

the \$67,787 associated with net metering costs was removed from test year operating expenses in calculating the revenue requirement.²⁷¹

OCC claims the Staff Report should have verified that the expenses in the test year are not also being collected from customers through Rider DR-IM.²⁷² Staff, however, did verify that the expenses in the test year were not also being collected from customers through Rider DR-IM.²⁷³ The DR-IM rates in effect during the test year were for smart grid related expenses associated with calendar year 2014. These amounts were verified as part of Staff's audit in Case No. 15-883-GE-RDR.²⁷⁴ Once base rates go into effect, Rider DR-IM rates will be set to zero and the rider eliminated in order to roll smart grid costs into base rates.²⁷⁵

RESA objects to Staff's recommended revenue requirements and Staff's calculation of rate and operating income based on Staff's acceptance of Duke's cost of service study (COSS).²⁷⁶ For purposes of calculating the revenue requirement, rate base,

Staff Ex. 13 (Lipthratt Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 3-

^{4.}

Objections to the Staff Report by OCC at 15.

Staff Ex. 13 (Lipthratt Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 4.

Id. citing In the Matter of the Application of Duke Energy Ohio, Inc., to Adjust Rider DR-IM and Rider AU for 2014 Grid Modernization Costs, Case No. 15-883-GE-RDR, Staff Review and Recommendation (Nov. 13, 2015).

Staff Ex. 13 (Lipthratt Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 4.

RESA/IGS Ex. 2 (Objections to Staff Report by RESA) at Objection Nos. 1 and 2.

and operating income, Staff utilized the Company's COSS that was deemed reasonable.²⁷⁷

E. Objections related to Duke's PAR program, the withdrawal of the Company's proposed net metering tariff; and lack of an SSO cost allocation.

OCC recommended discontinuing the entire PAR program.²⁷⁸ Discontinuing the PAR program, however, would be premature.²⁷⁹ Depending on the findings of a comprehensive audit and the willingness of the Company to implement internal controls, a separate proceeding may be necessary to revisit discount rates, credit practices and accounting practices.²⁸⁰

RESA and IGS object to the incorporation of a discount rate into the PAR program, ²⁸¹ and IGS further advocates for a separate proceeding and a structured implementation process if a discount rate is being considered. ²⁸² The Stipulation and

Staff Ex. 13 (Lipthratt Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 4.

In the Matter of the Application of Duke Energy Ohio, Inc. for an Increase in Electric Distribution Rates, Case No. 17-32-EL-AIR, et al., Objections to the Staff Report by OCC at 11 (Oct. 26, 2018) (Duke Rate Case).

Staff Ex. 15 (Smith Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 3.

²⁸⁰ *Id.* at 3-4.

RESA/IGS Ex. 2 (Objections to the Staff Report by RESA) at Objection 8; IGS Ex. 3 (Objections to the Staff Report by IGS) at 7-8.

²⁸² IGS Ex. 3 (Objections to the Staff Report by IGS) at 9-10.

Recommendation does not include a discount rate making RESA's and IGS's objections irrelevant.²⁸³

The Environmental Intervenors objected, collectively, to the net-metering tariff to the extent that Staff failed to recognize that the Company has withdrawn the proposal.²⁸⁴ Staff's recommendation in the Staff Report recognized that the Company has expenses in the provision of net metering services that are not currently captured through a rider or base rates.²⁸⁵ Per the Stipulation, Staff's net metering test year adjustment of \$67,787 as part of the Rate Case Staff Report was withdrawn and costs incurred shall be recovered by Supplier Cost Reconciliation Rider (SCR).²⁸⁶

RESA and IGS objected to the lack of an allocation for SSO costs. RESA further claims that costs are not correctly allocated and that choice customers pay these costs twice. IGS claims that the Cost of Service Study accepted by Staff failed to allocate certain costs to the standard service offer and that the Company charges competitive suppliers certain fees that it does not charge to SSO customers. Staff was not directed by the Commission to examine the Cost of Service Study regarding the embedded

Staff Ex. 15 (Smith Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 4.

Objections to the Staff Report by Environmental Intervenors at 3-4 (Oct. 26, 2017).

Staff Ex. 15 (Smith Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 4-5.

²⁸⁶ *Id.* at 5.

RESA/IGS Ex. 2 (Objections to the Staff Report by RESA) at Objection No. 6.

²⁸⁸ IGS Ex. 2 (Objections to the Staff Report by IGS) at 4-7.

administrative, operating, and non-operating costs associated with the provision of Choice or SSO generation.²⁸⁹ If the Commission had directed Staff to examine the administrative, operating, and non-operating costs associated with the provision of Choice or SSO generation, a comprehensive study would have been required.²⁹⁰ Even if such a study was directed by the Commission, it is unclear if the Company could comply depending on its accounting system.²⁹¹ The study would need to compare the services and costs associated with choice and SSO and find that there is a substantial difference between the provision of SSO and choice service by the Company.²⁹²

Choice customers do not pay the administrative, operating, and non-operating costs associated with the provision of generation twice.²⁹³ All customers pay for the Company's distribution costs in distribution rates.²⁹⁴ Choice customers do not pay for the Company's distribution costs in the CRES supplier's charges; rather, Choice customers pay for generation service through the CRES supplier's charges.²⁹⁵ Also, Choice customers are not charged fees that SSO customers are not charged. Certain fees, such as switching fees, billing fees, and interval data fees, are not charged directly to the

Staff Ex. 15 (Smith Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 5-6.

²⁹⁰ *Id.* at 6.

²⁹¹ *Id*.

²⁹² *Id*.

²⁹³ *Id.*

²⁹⁴ *Id*.

²⁹⁵ *Id*.

customer but to the generation provider by the Company.²⁹⁶ Furthermore, switching fees and interval data charges are marginal expenses, and cost causation dictates the assets used individually shall be charged individually.²⁹⁷

RESA and IGS, in its prefiled testimony, propose that: (i) SSO customers be charged an additional \$23 million per year for distribution service and (ii) customers who shop for their generation with a CRES be charged \$23 million less per year for distribution service. RESA and IGS propose that this be done by creating two new riders. The first rider would be a credit rider allowing all customers to allegedly avoid distribution costs and the second rider would be paid only by SSO customers. The total negative revenue requirement under the first rider would be the same as the total positive revenue requirement under the second rider. The net effect is that millions of dollars per year would be shifted from shopping customers (lowering their electric bills) to SSO customers (raising their electric bills).

²⁹⁶ *Id.* at 7.

²⁹⁷ *Id*.

²⁹⁸ IGS/RESA Ex. 1 (Hess Direct in Opposition to the Stipulation) at 4, Exhibit JEH-

^{1.}

OCC Ex. 22 (Willis Rebuttal Testimony) at 3.

³⁰⁰ *Id.* at 3-4.

³⁰¹ *Id.* at 4.

³⁰² *Id.*

The RESA and IGS proposal increases charges to SSO customers by over \$23 million per year which harms customers and is not in the public interest.³⁰³ The RESA and IGS proposal also includes an unjust and unreasonable cross-subsidization of the avoidable rider charged to the non-shopping residential customers that harms residential customers and violates the regulatory principle of cost causation.³⁰⁴

The Staff did not make any adjustments to any potential costs associated with non-shopping customers in this case. All electric distribution utilities are required to provide a standard service offer to consumers and the existence of a standard service offer benefits all customers, including shopping customers. The standard service offer provides a safety net for all customers. If a customer's supplier fails to provide service, the customer receives the SSO as a default service from the electric distribution utility in that service territory.

³⁰³ *Id.* at 5.

³⁰⁴ *Id*.

³⁰⁵ *Id.* at 6.

R.C. 4928.141 ("Beginning January 1, 2009, an electric distribution utility shall provide consumers, on a comparable and nondiscriminatory basis within its certified territory, a standard service offer of all competitive retail electric services necessary to maintain essential electric service to consumers, including a firm supply of electric generation service.")

OCC Ex. 22 (Willis Rebuttal Testimony) at 6.

³⁰⁸ *Id.*

³⁰⁹ *Id.* at 6-7.

All costs that Duke incurs to provide services to or on behalf of shopping and non-shopping customers are appropriately assigned to the distribution function of Duke. 310 Duke's competitively bid standard service offer is a benefit to both shopping and non-shopping customers. 311 Non-shopping customers can receive electric service that is competitively bid (i.e., the standard service offer) without needing to engage in the time-consuming and sometimes confusing process of selecting an alternative supplier. 312 Shopping customers can receive that same benefit when they consider other choices and shopping customers benefit from the standard service offer because they have a safety net in case the supplier they have chosen defaults. 313 The SSO also provides the benefit of a competitive price-to-compare that customers can use to evaluate marketer offers when deciding whether to shop for their generation. 314 All customers (shoppers and non-shoppers) benefit from the SSO and all customers should share in the costs of providing and administering the standard. 315

³¹⁰ *Id.* at 7.

³¹¹ *Id.*

³¹² *Id.*

³¹³ *Id*.

³¹⁴ *Id.* at 7-8.

³¹⁵ *Id.* at 8.

F. Objections related to Staff's recommendations regarding demand meters that are capable of measuring an individual customer's monthly demand.

The Environmental Intervenors object to Staff's recommendation to the extent that Staff suggests it may be appropriate to adopt a demand charge rate design in the future, once smart meters are fully deployed in Duke's service territory, and Staff's statement endorsing the idea that rates reflect costs.³¹⁶

The Staff Report does state that once the Applicant deploys demand meters that are capable of measuring an individual customer's monthly demand, a proxy for demand charges may no longer be necessary.³¹⁷ That statement is accurate.³¹⁸ The Staff Report did not state that the Commission should adopt a demand based rate design for residential customers without taking into account other important principles like energy conservation, as pointed out by the Environmental Intervenors.³¹⁹ But, as indicated in the Staff Report, Staff believes that the installation of demand meters will provide additional individual customer load data that will assist in determining what rate design is more appropriate to achieve the intended PowerForward/smart grid initiatives.³²⁰ Staff does

Objections to the Staff Report by Environmental Intervenors at 4 (Oct. 26, 2017).

Staff Ex. 7 (Rutherford Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 3.

³¹⁸ *Id*.

³¹⁹ *Id*.

³²⁰ *Id.*

not agree with the assertion that Staff recommended a blanket approval of a demand based residential rate design.³²¹

G. Objections related to Staff not reviewing the cost related to the Supplier Tariff, Sheet No. 20.

RESA objects to Staff not evaluating whether the Supplier Tariff, Sheet No. 20 charge is just and reasonable.³²² Staff reviews tariffs in a proposed application when the Company is proposing tariff modifications. Because the Company did not propose changing the current tariff, Staff did not review the cost related charge in its investigation of the Company's application and disagrees with RESA that it had an obligation to do so.³²³

H. Objections related to Staff's acceptance of the COSS for classifying poles and conductor.

The Environmental Intervenors' object to Staff's acceptance of the COSS as reasonable because the COSS uses a minimum system analysis for classifying poles and conductor between customer number and peak load. 324

The Minimum Size methodology used by Duke in its COSS analysis is an accepted practice used in the electric industry, and it does properly classify, functionalize and allocate costs used in the COSS analysis.³²⁵

63

³²¹ Id.

³²² Objections to the Staff Report by RESA at Objection No. 7 (Oct. 27, 2017).

³²³ Staff Ex. 7 (Rutherford Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 4.

³²⁴ Objections to the Staff Report by Environmental Intervenors at 5 (Oct. 26, 2017).

I. Objections related to Staff's test-year conclusions regarding the customer education funds.

In its objection, Cincinnati Clean Energy Foundation (CCEF) states that it "objects to the removal of customer education funds based on the Staff's conclusion that the funds were not expended during the test year. In particular, CCEF objects to the extent that this conclusion will result in Duke Energy not expending future funds on needed customer education, especially as it relates to customer education regarding clean energy, energy efficiency, and conservation."³²⁶ The objection goes on to say "nothing on the face of R.C. 4909.15 precludes the use of an estimate, projection, or forecast in the test period analysis."³²⁷

It has been a long-standing practice of the Staff to assess whether costs are prudent to include in test year expenses by applying two key criteria: (1) whether the cost is known and measurable; and (2) whether the cost is related to something that is used and useful in providing utility service to customers.³²⁸ The approximately \$2 million in question pertains to a proposed customer education campaign that did not occur during the test year, nor was it planned to occur during the test year.³²⁹ Furthermore, since the

Staff Ex. 16 (Goins Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 3.

Objections to the Staff Report by CCEF at 4 (Oct. 26, 2017).

³²⁷ *Id.*

Staff Ex. 2 (Berringer Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 2-3.

³²⁹ *Id.* at 3.

campaign was not implemented during the test year, it could not be considered used and useful in the provision of service to customers, thereby making the associated costs for the program inappropriate to include in test year expenses.³³⁰ Therefore, Staff made its recommendation to remove the expense for the proposed customer education campaign.³³¹

J. Objections related to Staff's rate of return calculation

OCC argues that the Staff Report used an unduly high 4.45% risk-free return in the Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM) analysis, 332 used an unduly high 7% risk premium in its cost of common equity calculation, 333 and inappropriately applied unequal weights to the CAPM and DCF model. 334 OCC also alleges that the Staff Report made improper adjustments for equity issuance and other costs. 335 Finally, OCC claims that the Staff Report's recommended rate of return and return on equity are unreasonable because they far exceed the rate of return and return on equity authorized for electric distribution utilities nationwide that are similar to Duke. 336

65

³³⁰ *Id.*

³³¹ *Id.*

Objections to the Staff Report by OCC at 8 (Oct. 26, 2017).

³³³ *Id.* at 9.

³³⁴ *Id.* at 9-10.

³³⁵ *Id.* at 10.

³³⁶ *Id.* at 10-11.

Staff made adjustments to its traditional CAPM analysis to achieve an appropriate risk premium that would result in a return on equity that is more appropriate for setting long-term rates and keeps the Company competitive for attracting investment. Staff believes there are many ways to establish a reasonable rate of return and does not believe altering an individual component is appropriate if it would create a return that is outside a reasonable range. Here, the rate of return range proposed by Staff, and accepted by the Company, is reasonable, making these objections raised by OCC immaterial.

K. Objections related to Staff's adjustment to issuance cost

OCC argues that Staff made an improper adjustment to issuance cost.³⁴⁰ Common stock issuance costs include expenditures made directly by the company issuing stock, for the purpose of issuing stock and does not include flotation costs.³⁴¹ Some of these expenditures would be for filing with the Security and Exchange Commission (SEC), accounting, legal representation, printing, and exchange listing.³⁴² Issuance costs also include the underwriting spread, which is not an expenditure for the issuing company.³⁴³

Staff Ex. 4 (Buckley Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 4.

³³⁸ *Id.*

³³⁹ *Id.*

Objections to the Staff Report by OCC at 8 (Oct. 26, 2017).

Staff Ex. 4 (Buckley Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 4.

³⁴² *Id.* at 4-5.

³⁴³ *Id.* at 5

Basically, the underwriting spread is the difference between the proceeds to the company and the price paid by the primary purchasers of an issue.³⁴⁴ Issuance costs are the difference between the amount paid by the primary purchasers and the net proceeds, which is the amount available for investment by the company.³⁴⁵

An adjustment for issuance cost is necessary.³⁴⁶ The cost of issuance is properly spread over the life of the stock issue.³⁴⁷ As long as stock has been issued, an equity adjustment is necessary.³⁴⁸ It does not matter what future financing plans have been prepared.³⁴⁹ The investor requires a full return as long as the investor owns the stock.³⁵⁰ The company issuing new equity initially receives funds in the amount of the equity issued.³⁵¹ The amount of equity issued less the issuance cost is the amount available to the company for investment, yet the investor is, as required, paid a return on the full amount of investment.³⁵² A greater return, therefore, must be earned on the lesser amount

³⁴⁴ *Id.*

³⁴⁵ *Id.*

³⁴⁶ *Id.*

³⁴⁷ *Id.*

³⁴⁸ *Id*.

³⁴⁹ *Id.*

³⁵⁰ *Id.*

³⁵¹ *Id.*

³⁵² *Id.*

that can be invested. This is made possible by the Staff's adjustment to the baseline cost of equity.³⁵³

L. Objections related to Staff's ROE range and ROR.

OCC argues that the overall rate of return and return on equity are unreasonable.³⁵⁴ Staff believes that the ROE range proposed in the Staff Report is reasonable because the average ROE nationwide over five years is 9.79%, well within the range of reasonableness Staff recommended.³⁵⁵ In fact the mid-point of the Staff recommendation is 9.73%.³⁵⁶

Staff also believes that the rate of return range proposed in the Staff Report is reasonable because the average rate of return nationwide during that same five-year period is 7.39%. When a range of reasonableness is applied to that average, the result is a rate of return range of 6.89% to 7.89%. The Stipulation provides a rate of return of 7.54%, which falls within the range of reasonableness that is based on the nationwide average. Staff used a five-year average when comparing nationwide rates of return

³⁵³ *Id.*

Objections to the Staff Report by OCC at 8 (Oct. 26, 2017).

Staff Ex. 4 (Buckley Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 6.

³⁵⁶ *Id.*

³⁵⁷ *Id.*

³⁵⁸ *Id.*

because rate cases are not typically filed annually.³⁵⁹ Therefore, a five-year average is more representative of a long-term rate of return, as is set in a distribution rate case.³⁶⁰

M. Objection related to whether the Staff properly recognized growth being experienced in the residential service rate class.

OCC objected to the Staff Report on the basis that it failed to recognize the growth being experienced in the residential service (RS) rate class, and that it should have annualized residential customer bills using the last month of the year.³⁶¹ There is no merit to this objection.

As Staff witness Snider explained, Staff adjusted the test year revenue to reflect all actual billing determinants for the entire test year.³⁶² Included in Staff's adjustment is an increase of 19,853 to the RS bill count.³⁶³ This approach reasonably accounts for the growth in residential customers being experienced by Duke.³⁶⁴

OCC's recommended approach of annualizing only the RS customer bills based on the last month of the test year would create problems.³⁶⁵ First, other tariff classes are

³⁶⁴ *Id.*

³⁶⁵ *Id.*

³⁵⁹ *Id.*

³⁶⁰ *Id.*

Objections to the Staff Report by OCC at 7 (Oct. 26, 2017).

Staff Ex. 5 (Snider Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 3.

³⁶³ *Id.*

not experiencing similar levels of growth as the RS class.³⁶⁶ In order to be consistent, it was appropriate to update the billing determinants for all tariff classes.³⁶⁷

Another problem with OCC's approach is that, although Duke has experienced RS customer growth on an annual basis, this growth is not consistent on a monthly basis.³⁶⁸

Annualizing the last month of the test period ignores the impact of seasonality and could result in overstating or understating the number of customer bills depending on the month being used.³⁶⁹ Therefore, it would be unreasonable to simply take the last month of the test year and annualize it.³⁷⁰

N. Objections related to smart grid issues

OCC objected to certain aspects of the Staff Report concerning smart grid issues. First, OCC objected that the Staff Report failed to address whether Duke's current smart grid infrastructure delivers all of the capabilities and functionality that Duke promised in past cases and in its application for federal funding.³⁷¹ As Staff witness Schweitzer explained, this objection is outside the scope of this proceeding.³⁷² In a stipulation signed

70

³⁶⁶ *Id.*

³⁶⁷ *Id.*

³⁶⁸ *Id.*

³⁶⁹ *Id.*

³⁷⁰ *Id*.

Objections to the Staff Report by OCC at 12 (Oct. 26, 2017).

Staff Ex. 6 (Schweitzer Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 2.

by OCC in a prior proceeding, the parties agreed that Duke would file a rate case in the year after full deployment "such that the revenue requirement requested in that case will reflect the level of the benefits attributable to SmartGrid which have actually been achieved by the Company and all prudently incurred current costs associated with the costs associated with the program."³⁷³

OCC also objected to the Staff Report because if failed to address whether Duke's smart grid infrastructure is capable of providing customers with safe, reliable, and reasonably priced electric service as required by statute.³⁷⁴ This issue, however, is outside the scope of this proceeding and will not be addressed here.³⁷⁵

OCC also objected that the Staff Report failed to address the prudence of Duke's spending on smart grid infrastructure.³⁷⁶ OCC further objected that the Staff Report failed to address whether Duke's current smart grid infrastructure is used and useful for consumers.³⁷⁷ These objections are not valid. The assets and expenses associated with

71

_

In the Matter of the Application of Duke Energy Ohio, Inc. to Adjust and Set Its Gas and Electric Recovery Rate for 2010 SmartGrid Costs Under Riders AU and Rider DRIM and Mid-deployment Review of AMI/Smart Grid Programs (Duke Smart Grid Review Case), Case No. 10-2326-GE-RDR (Stipulation and Recommendation at 7-8) (Feb. 24, 2012).

Objection to the Staff Report by OCC at 13 (Oct. 26, 2017).

Staff Ex. 6 (Schweitzer Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 3.

Objections to the Staff Report, OCC at 13-14 (Oct. 26, 2017).

³⁷⁷ *Id.* at 14.

the smart grid that are included in this rate case have historically been recovered through Duke's Rider DR-IM.³⁷⁸

The Commission has approved Rider DR-IM annually since 2010, and OCC has been a party each year in these rider review cases.³⁷⁹ Each year, Staff conducted an audit to determine the reasonableness and prudence of all expenses to be reviewed through the rider.³⁸⁰ Only those expenses associated with assets deemed used and useful are approved for recovery.³⁸¹ Since all smart grid costs in this rate case originated in Rider DR-IM. These expenses have already been reviewed and approved as prudent and used and useful.³⁸²

Finally, OCC objected that the Staff Report failed to address whether the revenue requirement reflects the savings that have been achieved for customers from Duke's smart grid investments.³⁸³ However, the level of expenses included in this rate case dues reflect the benefits of Duke's completed smart grid project.³⁸⁴ On October 22, 2015, Staff filed its Notice of Staff Determination in the Duke Smart Grid case that Duke had

Staff Ex. 6 (Schweitzer Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 3.

In the Matter of the Application of Duke Energy Ohio to Adjust and Set its Gas and Electric Recovery Rate for Smart Grid Deployment under Rider AU and Rider DR-IM, Case No. 09-543-GE-UNC.

Staff Ex. 6 (Schweitzer Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 4.

³⁸¹ *Id.*

³⁸² *Id*.

Objections to the Staff Report by OCC at 13-14.

Staff Ex. 6 (Schweitzer Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 4.

achieved full deployment of its smart grid project.³⁸⁵ From that date forward, the benefits of the smart grid would be reflected in Duke's operating expenses.³⁸⁶ Expenses included in the test period have been impacted by the full deployment of Duke's smart grid project and therefore include the savings or benefits of the smart grid.³⁸⁷

IV. The Price Stability Rider (Rider PSR) Case

Again, Rider PSR is in the public interest and a beneficial provision of the Stipulation. Rider PSR recovers or credits back the net profit or loss of the Company's ownership percentage in the OVEC units.³⁸⁸ The Commission previously approved the rider in Case No. 14-841-EL-SSO, *et al.*³⁸⁹ In the Stipulation, Duke can populate the rider with the net profit or net loss the Company incurred starting in January 2018 and through the end of the term of the ESP.³⁹⁰ For each Ohio EDU which has direct ownership shares of OVEC units, the Commission has granted a nonbypassable rider to allow the credits or costs to be flowed back to that utility's customers.³⁹¹ While each

Duke Smart Grid Review Case, Case No. 09-543-GE-UNC, Notice of Staff Determination (Oct. 22, 2015).

Staff Ex. 6 (Schweitzer Direct in Response to Objections to the Staff Report) at 4.

³⁸⁷ *Id.* at 4-5.

Staff Ex. 17 (Donlon Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 8.

³⁸⁹ *Id*.

³⁹⁰ *Id*.

Id. at 10-11 citing In the Matter of the Application of Ohio Power Company for Authority to Establish a Standard Service Offer Pursuant to R.C. 4928.143, in the Form of an Electric Security Plan, Case No 16-1852-EL-SSO, et al., Opinion and Order at 22-

EDU in Ohio has its own unique issues, circumstances and situations that should be evaluated on their own merits, OVEC is a unique issue and circumstance that three of the Ohio EDUs share in common.³⁹²

The Commission has already approved the Ohio Power Company and the Dayton Power and Light Company to recover or credit their individual ownership share of the OVEC plants through a rider.³⁹³ The Commission has deemed that those riders operate as a hedge for the costs and associated revenues of the EDU's ownership share of OVEC and are in the public interest.³⁹⁴ Again, Staff does not believe that the facts in this case differ enough to merit a change in Commission precedent.

V. The Reliability Standards Case

In the Stipulation, Duke commits to reliability standards that will benefit customers. Reliability is primarily measured through the CAIDI and SAIFI indices.³⁹⁵ CAIDI is a measure of the average time required to restore a customer who experienced an outage, reported as minutes per customer interrupted.³⁹⁶ SAIFI is a measure of the

^{23 (}April 25, 2018); In the Matter of the Application of The Dayton Power and Light Company to Establish a Standard Service Offer in the Form of an Electric Security Plan, Case No. 16-395-EL-SSO, et al., Opinion and Order at 34-35 (Oct. 20, 2017).

³⁹² *Id.* at 11.

³⁹³ *Id*.

³⁹⁴ *Id*.

Staff Ex. 3 (Nicodemus Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 3.

³⁹⁶ *Id.* at 4.

average number of interruptions that a customer may experience, reported as interruptions per customer.³⁹⁷

Per the Stipulation and Recommendation filed in this case on April 13, 2018,

Duke commits to the following reliability standards through 2025:³⁹⁸

YEAR	CAIDI	SAIFI
2018	134.34	1.12
2019	134.34	1.00
2020	134.34	0.91
2021	135.52	0.83
2022 through	137.00	0.75
2025	137.00	0.73

Duke's currently-approved CAIDI standard is 122.81. Per the Stipulation, the CAIDI standard increases initially to 134.34, 135.52, and then 137.00.³⁹⁹ It might appear that an increasing CAIDI represents worsening reliability performance. However, Duke has also committed to a reduced SAIFI standard, which will result in improved overall system reliability.⁴⁰⁰

A decreasing SAIFI indicates that fewer customers experience an outage. Because CAIDI is calculated by dividing total outage time, the numerator, by the number of customers who experience an outage, the denominator, an increase in CAIDI can be the

³⁹⁷ *Id*.

³⁹⁸ *Id.* at 9.

³⁹⁹ *Id*.

⁴⁰⁰ *Id*.

mathematical result of a lower denominator, or fewer customers experiencing an outage. Therefore, Staff also evaluates SAIDI, which is more representative of average outage duration across all customers in the service territory.⁴⁰¹

The combination of Duke's CAIDI and SAIFI commitments results in SAIDI that improves each of the next four years, and in 2022 through 2025 it will be the lowest it has been since the EDUs began to report reliability performance in 2010. If Duke exceeds either its CAIDI or SAIFI standards, the resulting SAIDI will be even lower. Therefore, on a system-wide basis, Duke's customers will experience improved reliability. 402

The table below illustrates Duke's SAIDI performance for each of the last five years, and SAIDI commitments for the next eight years. 403

YEAR	SAIDI PERFORMANCE	SAIDI COMMITMENT
2013	115.44	
2014	107.20	
2015	122.01	
2016	143.24	
2017	147.64	
2018		150.46
2019		134.34
2020		122.25
2021		112.48
2022 through 2025		102.75

⁴⁰¹ *Id.* at 10.

⁴⁰² *Id*.

⁴⁰³ *Id.* at 11.

Duke's reliability commitments in this case are aligned with the expectations of its customers. Duke has committed to a nearly 30% reduction in SAIFI, which translates to 30% fewer customers who will experience an outage at all. CAIDI is increasing about 12%, but this is not necessarily indicative of worsening reliability. The combination of Duke's SAIFI and CAIDI commitments results in SAIDI that improves each of the next four years. In years 2022 through 2025, Duke's customers system-wide will experience a 30% improvement in overall reliability when compared to 2017 performance. Staff believes that Duke's commitment to improved reliability aligns the Company's and its customers' expectations.

Duke is placing sufficient emphasis on and dedicating sufficient resources to the reliability of its distribution system. Duke has committed to reliability standards as part of a stipulated agreement negotiated in good faith. It is Staff's expectation that by doing so, Duke intends to place sufficient emphasis on and dedicate sufficient resources to meeting those standards for the duration of the ESP.

VI. Bill Impacts

Duke witness Wathen created a typical bill summary reflecting an estimate of the overall rate changes from the Stipulation and known changes in the SSO process for

404 *Id.* at 11.

405 *Id.* at 12.

77

various usage levels. 406 Despite the numerous issues being resolved in this case, customers' bills will not be changing much from current rates with the approval of this Stipulation. 407 It is likely that rates will rise at rates substantially less than inflation of the course of the ESP. 408 The Stipulation will maintain stability for Duke's customers will into the future. 409

VII. The Tax Cut and Jobs Act (TCJA)

In the Stipulation, Duke agrees to incorporate the reduced federal income tax rate in the calculation of all riders for electric distribution service that include a return on equity component. The reduced revenue requirement associated with the reduction to the federal income tax rate was captured in the DCI. Based on Staff's calculations, accounting for the tax reduction in the DCI captures 75% of the value of what the reduction to the revenue requirement would have been had it instead been captured in base rates.

78

Duke Ex. 30 (Wathen Second Supplemental in Support of Stipulation) at WDW-2.

⁴⁰⁷ *Id.* at 34.

⁴⁰⁸ *Id.* at 35

⁴⁰⁹ *Id*.

Joint Ex. 1 (Stipulation and Recommendation) at 25.

Staff Ex. 12 (Lipthratt Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 4.

⁴¹² *Id*.

To the extent which any effects of the tax reduction are not approved by the Commission in this case, the effects should be addressed in Case No. 18-0047-AU-COI (Tax COI case). This would include, but not be limited to, the value of the tax reduction not captured in the DCI and any excess Accumulated Deferred Income Taxes (ADIT). Ala

Furthermore, the Company proposes that all the TCJA excess ADIT be reflected in the DCI. At this time, Staff recommends that the manner in which all the excess ADIT is returned to customers remain open. Other vehicles could be utilized as well to return a portion or all of the excess ADIT.

CONCLUSION

The Stipulation meets all prongs of the three-part test. The Commission should adopt the Stipulation as its order in this case.

Respectfully submitted,

Michael DeWine

⁴¹³ *Id.* at 5.

⁴¹⁴ *Id*.

Duke Ex. 30 (Wathen Second Supplemental in Support of the Stipulation) at 12-13.

Staff Ex. 8 (McCarter Direct in Support of the Stipulation) at 4.

⁴¹⁷ *Id.*

Ohio Attorney General

William L. Wright Section Chief

/s/ Steven L. Beeler

Steven L. Beeler
Robert A. Eubanks
Thomas G. Lindgren
Assistant Attorneys General
Public Utilities Section
30 East Broad Street, 16th Floor
Columbus, OH 43215-3414
614.466.4397 (telephone)
614.644.8764 (fax)
william.wright@ohioattorneygeneral.gov
steven.beeler@ohioattorneygeneral.gov
robert.eubanks@ohioattorneygeneral.gov
thomas.lindgren@ohioattorneygeneral.gov

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that a true and correct copy of the Initial Post-Hearing Brief submitted on behalf of the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio has been served upon the below-named counsel via electronic mail, this 11th day of September, 2018.

/s/ Steven L. Beeler

Steven L. Beeler

Parties of Record:

Jeanne.kingery@duke-energy.com Elizabeth.watts@duke-energy.com Rocco.d'ascenzo@duke-energy.com fdarr@mwncmh.com mpritchard@mwncmh.com mkurtz@BKLlawfirm.com kboehm@BKLlawfirm.com ikvlercohn@BKLlawfirm.com William.michael@occ.ohio.gov Christopher.healy@occ.ohio.gov Bojko@carpenterlipps.com dressel@carpenterlipps.com cmooney@ohiopartners.org mfleisher@elpc.org charris@spilmanlaw.com dwilliamson@spilmanlaw.com lbrandfass@spilmanlaw.com paul@carpenterlipps.com dborchers@bricker.com dparram@bricker.com eakhbari@bricker.com tdougherty@theOEC.org mleppla@theOEC.org

joliker@igsenergy.com mnugent@igsenergy.com slesser@calfee.com ilang@calfee.com talexander@calfee.com mkeaney@calfee.com mdortch@kravitzllc.com rparsons@kravitzllc.com idortch@kravitzllc.com whitt@whitt-sturtevant.com campbell@whitt-sturtevant.com glover@whitt-sturtevant.com mjsettineri@vorys.com glpetrucci@vorys.com rsahli@columbus.rr.com Tony.mendoza@sierraclub.org jnewman@envrironlaw.com rdove@attorneydove.com

ATTORNEY EXAMINERS

Stacie.Cathcart@puco.ohio.gov Nicholas.Walstra@puco.ohio.gov This foregoing document was electronically filed with the Public Utilities

Commission of Ohio Docketing Information System on

9/11/2018 1:26:42 PM

in

Case No(s). 17-0032-EL-AIR, 17-0033-EL-ATA, 17-0034-EL-AAM, 17-0872-EL-RDR, 17-0873-EL-ATA,

Summary: Brief Initial Post-Hearing Brief electronically filed by Ms. Tonnetta Scott on behalf of PUC